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EXPLANATORY NOTE

On February 28, 2023, Cactus, Inc. (“Cactus Inc.”) through one of its subsidiaries, completed its previously announced merger of the FlexSteel
business (the “Merger”) through a merger with HighRidge Resources, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“HighRidge”). On February 27, 2023, in order to facilitate the
Merger with HighRidge, an internal reorganization was completed in which Cactus Companies, LLC (“Cactus Companies”), a recently formed wholly-owned
subsidiary of Cactus Inc., acquired all of the outstanding units representing ownership interests in Cactus Wellhead, LLC, the operating subsidiary of Cactus
Inc. (the “CC Reorganization”). FlexSteel Holdings, Inc. was a wholly-owned subsidiary of HighRidge prior to the Merger and was converted into a limited
liability company, contributed from HighRidge to Cactus Companies as part of the CC Reorganization and is now named FlexSteel Holdings, LLC
(“FlexSteel”).

Although this Annual Report on Form 10-K is filed after the completion of the Merger and the CC Reorganization, unless otherwise specifically noted
herein or the context otherwise requires, information set forth herein only relates to the period as of and for the annual period ended December 31, 2022 and
therefore does not include the information of HighRidge for that period or reflect the CC Reorganization. Accordingly, unless otherwise specifically noted
herein or the context otherwise requires, references herein to Cactus Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (the “Company”, “we”, “us”, “our” and “Cactus”)
refers only to Cactus and its consolidated subsidiaries prior to the Merger and the CC Reorganization and do not include results and other information
associated with HighRidge and the FlexSteel business.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10‑K (this “Annual Report”) contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). When used in this Annual Report, the words “could,” “believe,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “estimate,”
“expect,” “project” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward‑looking statements, although not all forward‑looking statements contain such
identifying words. These forward‑looking statements are based on our current expectations and assumptions about future events and are based on currently
available information as to the outcome and timing of future events. When considering forward‑looking statements, you should keep in mind the risk factors
and other cautionary statements described under the heading “Item 1A. Risk Factors” included in this Annual Report and other cautionary statements contained
herein. These forward‑looking statements are based on management’s current belief, based on currently available information, as to the outcome and timing of
future events.

Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in the forward‑looking statements include, but are not
limited to:

• demand for our products and services, which is affected by, among other things, changes in the price of crude oil and natural gas;

• the number of active drilling and workover rigs, pad sizes, drilling and completion efficiencies, lateral lengths, well productivity, well counts and
availability of takeaway and storage capacity;

• changes in the number of drilled but uncompleted wells (“DUCs”);

• competition and capacity within the oilfield services industry;

• consolidation activity involving our customers;

• disparities in activity levels between private operators and large publicly-traded exploration and production (“E&P”) companies;

• the financial health of our customers and our credit risk of customer non-payment;

• availability and cost of raw materials, components and imported items;

• changes in inland and ocean shipping costs as well as transit times;

• transportation differentials associated with reduced capacity in and out of the storage hub in Cushing, Oklahoma;

• the impact of inflation, rising interest rates and a recession;

• availability and cost of skilled and qualified workers and our ability to recruit and retain employees and managers;
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• potential liabilities such as warranty and product liability claims arising out of the installation, use or misuse of our products;

• our financial strategy, operating cash flows, liquidity and capital required for our business, including our ability to obtain and repay debt-
financing and to pay dividends;

• our ability to retain, expand and create new relationships with major customers or suppliers;

• laws and regulations, including environmental regulations, that may increase our costs or our customers’ costs, limit the demand for our products
and services or restrict our operations;

• disruptions in political, regulatory, economic and social conditions domestically or internationally, including, for instance, the armed conflict
between Russia and Ukraine and associated sanctions on Russia;

• the severity and duration of the ongoing coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic, or other global pandemics, and the extent of their impact on our
business, including employee absenteeism;

• the impact of actions taken by the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries and other oil and gas producing countries (“OPEC+”) affecting
the supply of oil and gas;

• the impact of planned and possible future releases from and replenishments to the Strategic Petroleum Reserve;

• the impact of LNG regasification and storage capacity on associated natural gas demand;

• the significance of future liabilities under the Tax Receivable Agreement (the “TRA”) we entered into in connection with our initial public
offering;

• a failure of our information technology infrastructure or any significant breach of security;

• potential uninsured claims and litigation against us;

• currency exchange rate fluctuations associated with our international operations; and

• our ability to successfully integrate FlexSteel with and into our business, retain key personnel from FlexSteel after the completion of the Merger
and realize the expected benefits of the transaction in an efficient and effective manner.

We caution you that these forward‑looking statements are subject to all of the risks and uncertainties, most of which are difficult to predict and many
of which are beyond our control, incident to the operation of our business. These risks include, but are not limited to the risks described in this Annual Report
under “Item 1A. Risk Factors.” Should one or more of the risks or uncertainties described in this Annual Report occur, or should underlying assumptions prove
incorrect, our actual results and plans could differ materially from those expressed in any forward‑looking statements.

All forward‑looking statements, expressed or implied, included in this Annual Report are expressly qualified in their entirety by this cautionary
statement. This cautionary statement should also be considered in connection with any subsequent written or oral forward‑looking statements that we or
persons acting on our behalf may issue. Except as otherwise required by applicable law, we disclaim any duty to update any forward‑looking statements, all of
which are expressly qualified by the statements in this section, to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Annual Report.
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PART I

Item 1.     Business

General

Cactus, Inc. (“Cactus Inc.”) and its consolidated subsidiaries (the “Company,” “we,” “us,” “our” and “Cactus”), including Cactus Wellhead, LLC
(“Cactus LLC”), are primarily engaged in the design, manufacture and sale of wellhead and pressure control equipment. Our products are sold and rented
principally for onshore unconventional oil and gas wells and are utilized during the drilling, completion and production phases of our customers’ wells. We also
provide field services for all of our products and rental items to assist with the installation, maintenance and handling of the wellhead and pressure control
equipment. Additionally, we offer repair and refurbishment services. We operate through 15 U.S. service centers located in Texas, New Mexico, Pennsylvania,
North Dakota, Louisiana, Oklahoma, Colorado, Utah and Wyoming as well as three service centers in Eastern Australia. We also provide rental and field
service operations in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Our corporate headquarters are located in Houston, Texas. We also have manufacturing and production
facilities in Bossier City, Louisiana and Suzhou, China.

Cactus Inc. was incorporated on February 17, 2017 as a Delaware corporation for the purpose of completing an initial public offering of equity and
related transactions, which was completed on February 12, 2018 (our “IPO”). We began operating in August 2011 following the formation of Cactus LLC in
part by Scott Bender and Joel Bender, who have owned or operated wellhead manufacturing businesses since the late 1970s. Cactus Inc. is a holding company
whose only material asset is an equity interest consisting of units representing limited liability company interests in Cactus LLC (“CW Units”). Cactus Inc.
became the sole managing member of Cactus LLC upon completion of our IPO and is responsible for all operational, management and administrative decisions
relating to Cactus LLC’s business. Pursuant to the Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement of Cactus LLC (the
“Cactus Wellhead LLC Agreement”), owners of CW Units are entitled to redeem their CW Units for shares of Cactus Inc.’s Class A common stock, par value
$0.01 per share (“Class A common stock”) on a one-for-one basis, which results in a corresponding increase in Cactus Inc.’s membership interest in Cactus
LLC and an increase in the number of shares of Class A common stock outstanding. We refer to the owners of CW Units, other than Cactus Inc. (along with
their permitted transferees), as “CW Unit Holders.” CW Unit Holders own one share of our Class B common stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Class B
common stock”) for each CW Unit such CW Unit Holder owns. Holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock vote together as a single class on
all matters presented to our stockholders for their vote or approval, except as otherwise required by applicable law or our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation. Cactus WH Enterprises, LLC (“Cactus WH Enterprises”) is the largest CW Unit Holder. Cactus WH Enterprises is a Delaware limited liability
company owned by Scott Bender, Joel Bender, Steven Bender and certain other employees. Cadent Energy Partners II, L.P. (“Cadent”), an affiliate of Cadent
Energy Partners LLC, owned more than 10% of issued and outstanding CW Units until March 2021, when it redeemed 4,111,250 of the CW Units (together
with an equal number of shares of Class B common stock) owned by it in connection with the March 2021 offer and sale by certain selling stockholders of
Class A common stock. Subsequently, in a series of additional transactions throughout 2021, Cadent and its affiliates transferred or redeemed the remainder of
its CW Units. The redeemed CW Units were redeemed for Class A common stock, with such shares being distributed to their owners pro rata.

As of December 31, 2022, Cactus Inc. owned 80.3% and CW Unit Holders owned 19.7% of Cactus LLC, which was based on 60.9 million shares of
Class A common stock issued and outstanding and 15.0 million shares of Class B common stock issued and outstanding. Cactus WH Enterprises held
approximately 17.6% of our voting power as of December 31, 2022. Following a public offering completed on January 13, 2023, Cactus Inc. owned 81.1% and
CW Unit Holders owned 18.9% of Cactus LLC, which was based on 64.1 million shares of Class A common stock issued and outstanding and 15.0 million
shares of Class B common stock issued and outstanding. Cactus WH Enterprises held approximately 16.9% of our voting power as of the completion of such
offering.

Since our IPO in February 2018, 45.6 million CW Units and a corresponding number of shares of Class B common stock have been redeemed in
exchange for shares of Class A common stock. The following is a rollforward of ownership of
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legacy CW Units by CW Unit Holders for the three years ended December 31, 2022:
  CW Units
  (in thousands)

CW Units held by legacy CW Unit Holders as of December 31, 2019 27,958 
CW Unit redemptions (303)

CW Units held by legacy CW Unit Holders as of December 31, 2020 27,655 
Follow-on equity offering in March 2021 (6,273)
Cadent redemption in June 2021 (3,292)
Cadent redemption in September 2021 (715)
Other CW Unit redemptions (701)

CW Units held by legacy CW Unit Holders as of December 31, 2021 16,674 
CW Unit redemptions (1,696)

CW Units held by legacy CW Unit Holders as of December 31, 2022 14,978 

For a detailed discussion of significant 2021 activity and redemptions, See Note 10 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The following diagram indicates our simplified ownership structure as of December 31, 2022:
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Acquisition of FlexSteel

On December 30, 2022, Cactus Inc. and its newly-formed subsidiary, Atlas Merger Sub, LLC, entered into a definitive agreement (the “Merger
Agreement”) to acquire HighRidge on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement. The Merger closed on February 28, 2023
whereby Atlas Merger Sub, LLC merged into HighRidge, with HighRidge being the surviving entity. HighRidge’s primary purpose was to own 100% of the
equity in FlexSteel Holdings, Inc. Subsequent to the Merger, FlexSteel Holdings, Inc. was converted into a limited liability company, now named FlexSteel
Holdings, LLC (previously defined as “FlexSteel”). Also subsequent to the Merger, Cactus Inc. contributed HighRidge to Cactus Acquisitions LLC (“Cactus
Acquisitions”), a newly created entity, whereby HighRidge was converted into a limited liability company. Finally, Cactus Acquisitions contributed FlexSteel
to Cactus Companies (defined below) which had previously acquired all of the outstanding units of Cactus LLC in exchange for an equal number of CC Units
(defined below) prior to the Merger closing.

FlexSteel is a leading manufacturer and provider of differentiated onshore spoolable pipe technologies and associated installation services. FlexSteel
operates through service centers and pipe yards located throughout the United States and Canada, while also providing equipment and services in select
international markets. FlexSteel has a manufacturing facility in Baytown, Texas. We believe this acquisition enhances Cactus’ position as a premier
manufacturer and provider of highly engineered equipment to the E&P industry and expands our reach further downstream. We also believe FlexSteel’s
products are highly complementary to Cactus’ equipment at the wellsite and provides meaningful growth potential for Cactus.

We acquired HighRidge on a cash-free, debt-free basis, for a purchase price of approximately $621.2 million, subject to certain working capital, debt
and other customary adjustments set forth in the Merger Agreement. In addition to the upfront consideration, there is a potential future earn-out payment of up
to $75 million to be paid no later than the third quarter of 2024, if certain revenue growth targets are met by FlexSteel. We funded the upfront purchase price
using a combination of $165.6 million of net proceeds received from a public offering of shares of our Class A common stock completed on January 13, 2023,
borrowings under the Amended ABL Credit Facility (as defined in Note 15 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements) and available cash on hand
at the time of closing.

Internal Reorganization and Current Ownership Structure

On February 27, 2023, in order to facilitate the Merger, an internal reorganization (the “CC Reorganization”) was completed in which Cactus
Companies, LLC (“Cactus Companies”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cactus Inc. formed on February 6, 2023, acquired all of the outstanding units
representing ownership interests in the operating subsidiary of Cactus Inc., Cactus LLC, in exchange for an equal number of units representing limited liability
company interests in Cactus Companies (“CC Units”) issued to each of the previous owners of CW Units. Cactus Inc. is a holding company whose only
material asset is a direct and indirect equity interest consisting of CC Units following the completion of the CC Reorganization (which were CW Units from the
IPO until the CC Reorganization). Cactus Inc. was the sole managing member of Cactus LLC upon completion of our IPO until the CC Reorganization and
became the sole managing member of Cactus Companies upon completion of the CC Reorganization. In connection with the CC Reorganization, Cactus Inc.,
Cactus Acquisitions and the remaining owners of CC Units entered into the Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement of Cactus
Companies (the “Cactus Companies LLC Agreement”), which contains substantially the same terms and conditions as the Second Amended and Restated
Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement of Cactus LLC (the “Cactus Wellhead LLC Agreement”), which was the limited liability company operating
agreement of Cactus LLC prior to the CC Reorganization. Cactus Inc. was responsible for all operational, management and administrative decisions relating to
Cactus LLC’s business for the period from completion of our IPO until the CC Reorganization and for the Cactus Companies’ business for periods after the CC
Reorganization.

From the completion of our IPO until the CC Reorganization, pursuant to the Cactus Wellhead LLC Agreement, owners of CW Units were entitled to
redeem their CW Units for shares of Cactus Inc.’s Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis, which would have resulted in a corresponding increase in
Cactus Inc.’s membership interest in Cactus LLC and an increase in the number of shares of Class A common stock outstanding. After the CC Reorganization,
we refer to the owners of CC Units, other than Cactus Inc. (along with their permitted transferees), as “CC Unit Holders.” From the completion of our IPO until
the CC Reorganization, CW Unit Holders owned one share of our Class B common stock for each CW Unit such CW Unit Holder owned and, upon the
completion of the CC Reorganization, such CW Unit Holders ceased to be holders of CW Units and, instead, became holders of a number of CC Units equal to
the number of CW Units such CW Unit Holders held immediately prior to the completion of the CC Reorganization. Following the completion of the CC
Reorganization, CC Unit Holders own one share of our Class B Common Stock for each CC Unit such CC Unit Holder owns and Cactus Companies is the sole
member of Cactus LLC. Pursuant to the Cactus Companies LLC Agreement, owners of CC Units are entitled to redeem their CC Units for shares of Cactus
Inc.’s Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis, which would result in a corresponding
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increase in Cactus Inc.’s membership interest in Cactus Companies and an increase in the number of shares of Class A common stock outstanding.

Holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock continue to vote together as a single class on all matters presented to our stockholders
for their vote or approval, except as otherwise required by applicable law or our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. Cactus WH Enterprises
remains the largest CC Unit Holder following the completion of the CC Reorganization.

As of February 28, 2023, following completion of the CC Reorganization, Cactus Inc. owned 81.1% through direct and indirect ownership of Cactus
Companies and the CC Unit Holders owned 18.9%, which was based on 64.1 million shares of Class A common stock issued and outstanding and 15.0 million
shares of Class B common stock issued and outstanding. Cactus WH Enterprises held approximately 16.9% of our voting power as of February 28, 2023.

The following diagram indicates our simplified ownership structure immediately following the completion of the CC Reorganization:

The remainder of this “Item 1. Business” section specifically excludes the impact of the FlexSteel acquisition unless otherwise noted, as it was not a
part of our business prior to December 31, 2022. Additional details on the business can be found in our Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) on January 3, 2023 announcing the signing of the Merger Agreement.
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Our Products

Our principal products include our Cactus SafeDrill  wellhead systems as well as frac stacks, our Cactus SafeLink monobore, SafeClamp  and
SafeInject  systems, zipper manifolds and production trees that we design and manufacture. Every oil and gas well requires a wellhead system, which is
installed throughout the drilling process and remains with the well through its entire productive life. The Cactus SafeDrill® wellhead systems employ
technology which allows technicians to land and secure casing strings more safely from the rig floor, reducing the need to descend into the cellar. We believe
we are a market leader in the application of such technology, with thousands of our products sold and installed across the United States since 2011. During the
completion phase of a well, we rent frac stacks, zipper manifolds and other high-pressure equipment including our SafeLink , SafeClamp  and SafeInject
systems that are used for well control and managing the transmission of frac fluids and proppants during the hydraulic fracturing process. These severe service
applications require robust and reliable equipment. Cactus, through its proprietary equipment, digital offerings and services, reduces the need for human
intervention in the exclusion zone, minimizing non-productive time and leading to inherently safer and more environmentally responsible operations. For the
subsequent production phase of a well, we sell production trees and equipment which are installed on the wellhead after the frac stack has been removed. In
addition, we provide mission-critical field services for all of our products and rental items, including 24-hour service crews to assist with the installation,
maintenance, repair and safe handling of the wellhead and pressure control equipment. Our innovative wellhead products and pressure control equipment are
developed internally.

We believe that customers select our products, among other reasons, due to brand name recognition associated with our engineered products, which
we believe is due to our focus on safety, reliability, cost effectiveness and time saving features. We optimize our products for pad drilling (i.e., the process of
drilling multiple wellbores from a single surface location) to reduce rig time and provide operators with significant efficiencies that translate into increased
safety, reduced environmental impact and cost savings at the wellsite.

We primarily operate through service centers in the United States, which are strategically located in the key oil and gas producing regions, including
the Permian, Marcellus, Utica, Haynesville, Eagle Ford, Bakken and SCOOP/STACK, among other active oil and gas regions in the United States, and in
Eastern Australia. These service centers support our field services and provide equipment assembly and repair services. We also conduct rental and field service
operations in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Our manufacturing and production facilities are located in Bossier City, Louisiana and Suzhou, China.

Our Revenues

We operate in one business segment. Our revenues are derived from three sources: products, rentals, and field service and other. Product revenues are
primarily derived from the sale of wellhead systems and production trees. Rental revenues are primarily derived from the rental of equipment used during the
completion process, the repair of such equipment and the rental of tools used during drilling operations. Field service and other revenues are primarily earned
when we provide installation and other field services for both product sales and equipment rental. Additionally, other revenues are derived from providing
repair and reconditioning services to customers that have previously purchased wellheads or production trees. Items sold or rented generally have an associated
service component. As a result, there is a close correlation between field service and other revenues and revenues from product sales and rentals.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, we derived 66% of our total revenues from the sale of our products, 14% from rental and 20% from field
service and other. In 2021, we derived 64% of our total revenues from the sale of our products, 14% from rental and 22% from field service and other. In 2020,
we derived 59% of our total revenues from the sale of our products, 19% from rental and 22% from field service and other. We have predominantly domestic
operations, with a small amount of sales in select international markets.

Most of our sales are made on a call out basis pursuant to agreements, wherein our clients provide delivery instructions for goods and/or services as
their operations require. Such goods and services are most often priced in accordance with a preapproved price list. The actual pricing of our products and
services is impacted by a number of factors including competitive pricing pressure, the value perceived by our customers, the level of utilized capacity in the
oil service sector, cost of manufacturing the product, cost of providing the service and general market conditions.

Costs of Conducting Our Business

The principal elements of cost of sales for our products are the direct and indirect costs to manufacture and supply the product, including labor,
materials, machine time, tariffs and duties, freight and lease expenses related to our facilities. The principal elements of cost of sales for rentals are the direct
and indirect costs of supplying rental equipment, including

® ® ®

®

® ® ®
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depreciation, repairs specifically performed on such rental equipment and freight. The principal elements of cost of sales for field service and other are labor,
equipment depreciation and repair, equipment and vehicle lease expenses, fuel and supplies. Selling, general and administrative expense is comprised of costs
such as sales and marketing, engineering, general corporate overhead, business development, compensation, employment benefits, insurance, information
technology, safety and environmental, legal and professional.

Suppliers and Raw Materials

Forgings, castings, tube and bar stock represent the principal raw materials used in the manufacture of our products and rental equipment. In addition,
we require accessory items (such as elastomers, ring gaskets, studs and nuts) and machined components. We purchase a majority of these items from
vendors primarily located in the United States, China, India and Australia. During each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022, no vendor
represented 10% or more of our total third-party vendor purchases of raw materials, finished products, components, equipment, machining and other services.
We do not believe that we are overly dependent on any individual vendor to supply our required materials or services. The materials and services essential to
our business are normally readily available and, where we use one or a few vendors as a source of any particular materials or services, we believe that we can,
within a reasonable period of time, make satisfactory alternative arrangements in the event of an interruption of supply from any vendor. We believe our
materials and services vendors have the capacity to meet additional demand should we require it, although at higher costs and with extended deliveries.

Manufacturing

Our manufacturing and production facilities are located in Bossier City, Louisiana and Suzhou, China. Although both facilities can produce our full
range of products, our Bossier City facility has advanced capabilities and is designed to support time-sensitive and rapid turnaround of made-to-order
equipment, while our facility in China is optimized for longer lead time orders and outsources its machining requirements. The facilities are licensed to the
latest American Petroleum Institute (“API”) 6A specification for wellheads and valves and API Q1 and ISO 9001:2015 quality management systems. Where
traditional manufacturing facilities are designed to run in batches with different machining processes occurring in stages, our Bossier City facility uses
advanced computer numeric 5 Axis control machines to perform multiple machining operations with fewer set-ups. We believe eliminating the queue times
between machining operations allows us to offer significantly shorter order-to-delivery times compared to our competitors, albeit at higher costs than our
facility in China. Responsiveness to urgent needs strengthens our relationship with key customers. The Bossier City facility has the ability to perform
phosphate and oil coating, copper coating and frac rental equipment remanufacturing. Our production facility in China is configured to efficiently produce our
range of pressure control products and components for less time-sensitive, higher-volume orders. The Suzhou facility assembles and tests finished and semi-
finished machined components before shipment to the United States, Australia and other international locations. Our Suzhou subsidiary is wholly-owned, and
its facility is staffed by Cactus employees, which we believe is a key factor in ensuring high quality and dependable deliveries.

Trademarks and Patents

Trademarks are important to the marketing of our products. We consider the Cactus Wellhead trademark to be important to our business as a whole.
The Company has numerous trademarks registered with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and has also applied for registration status of several trademarks
which are pending. Once registered, our trademarks can be renewed every 10 years as long as we are using them in commerce. We also seek to protect our
technology through use of patents, which affords us 20 years of protection of our proprietary inventions and technology, although we do not deem patents to be
critical to our success. We have been awarded several U.S. patents and currently have additional patent applications pending. We also rely on trade secret
protection for our confidential and proprietary information. To protect our information, we customarily enter into confidentiality agreements with our
employees and suppliers. There can be no assurance, however, that others will not independently obtain similar information or otherwise gain access to our
trade secrets. 

Cyclicality

We are substantially dependent on conditions in the oil and gas industry, including the level of exploration, development and production activity of,
and the corresponding capital spending by, oil and natural gas companies. The level of exploration, development and production activity is directly affected by
trends in oil and natural gas prices, which have historically been volatile, and by the availability of capital and the associated capital spending discipline
exercised by customers. Declines, as well as anticipated declines, in oil and gas prices could negatively affect the level of these activities and capital spending,
which could adversely affect demand for our products and services and, in certain instances, result in the
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cancellation, modification or rescheduling of existing and expected orders and the ability of our customers to pay us for our products and services. These
factors could have an adverse effect on our revenue and profitability.

Seasonality

Our business is not significantly impacted by seasonality, although our fourth quarter has historically been impacted by holidays and our customers’
budget cycles.

Customers

We serve over 200 customers representing private operators, publicly-traded independents, majors and other companies with operations in the key
U.S. oil and gas producing basins as well as in Australia, the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other international locations. No customer represented more than
10% of total revenues during the year ended December 31, 2022. One customer represented approximately 12% of our total revenues during the year ended
December 31, 2021, whereas no customer represented 10% or more of total revenues during the year ended December 31, 2020. 

Competition

The markets in which we operate are highly competitive. We believe we are one of the largest suppliers of wellheads used in the United States. We
compete with divisions of Schlumberger and TechnipFMC, as well as a large number of other companies. We believe the rental market for frac stacks and
related flow control equipment is more fragmented than the wellhead product market. Cactus does not believe any individual company represents more than
20% of the U.S. rental market.

We believe the competitive factors in the markets we serve include technical features, equipment availability, work force competency, efficiency,
safety record, reputation, continuity of management and price. Additionally, projects are often awarded on a bid basis, which tends to create a highly
competitive environment. While we seek to be competitive in our pricing, we believe many of our customers elect to work with us based on product
performance, features, safety and availability, as well as the quality of our people, equipment and services. We seek to differentiate ourselves from our
competitors by delivering the highest‑quality services and equipment possible, coupled with superior execution and operating efficiency in a safe working
environment.

Environmental, Health and Safety Regulation

We are subject to stringent governmental laws and regulations, both in the United States and other countries, pertaining to protection of the
environment and occupational safety and health. Compliance with environmental legal requirements in the United States at the federal, state or local levels may
require acquiring permits to conduct regulated activities, incurring capital expenditures to limit or prevent emissions, discharges and any unauthorized releases,
and complying with stringent practices to handle, recycle and dispose of certain wastes. These laws and regulations include, among others:

• the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (the “Clean Water Act”);
• the Clean Air Act;
• the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act;
• the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act;
• the Occupational Safety and Health Act; and
• national and local environmental protection laws in Australia, the People’s Republic of China and the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

New, modified or stricter enforcement of environmental laws and regulations could be adopted or implemented that significantly increase our
compliance costs, pollution mitigation costs, or the cost of any remediation of environmental contamination that may become necessary, and these costs could
be material. Our customers are also subject to most, if not all, of the same laws and regulations relating to environmental protection and occupational safety and
health in the United States and in foreign countries where we operate. Consequently, to the extent these environmental compliance costs, pollution mitigation
costs or remediation costs are incurred by our customers, those customers could elect to delay, reduce or cancel drilling, exploration or production programs,
which could reduce demand for our products and services and, as a result, have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations, or cash flows. Consistent with our quality assurance and Health, Safety & Environment (“HSE”) principles, we have established proactive
environmental and worker safety policies in the United States and foreign countries for the management, handling, recycling or disposal of chemicals and
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gases and other materials and wastes resulting from our operations. Substantial fines and penalties can be imposed and orders or injunctions limiting or
prohibiting certain operations may be issued in connection with any failure to comply with laws and regulations relating to worker health and safety.

Licenses and Certifications. Our manufacturing facility in Bossier City, Louisiana and our production facility in Suzhou, China are currently licensed
by the API to monogram manufactured products in accordance with API 6A, 21st Edition product specification for both wellheads and valves while the quality
management system is certified to API Q1, 9th Edition and ISO 9001:2015. These licenses and certifications expire every three years and are renewed upon
successful completion of annual audits. Cactus has also developed an API Q2 program specific to our service business. At this time, we have not yet applied for
API Q2 certification, but we are implementing the API Q2 Quality Management System at select service locations to reduce well site non-productive time,
improve service tool reliability and enhance customer satisfaction and retention. Our current API licenses and certifications are published on our website under
the “Quality Assurance & Control” section of our website at www.CactusWHD.com. API’s standards are subject to revision, however, and there is no guarantee
that future amendments or substantive changes to the standards would not require us to modify our operations or manufacturing processes to meet the new
standards. Doing so may materially affect our operational costs. We also cannot guarantee that changes to the standards would not lead to the rescission of our
licenses should we be unable to make the changes necessary to meet the new standards. Loss of our API licenses could materially affect demand for these
products.

Hydraulic Fracturing. Most of our customers utilize hydraulic fracturing in their operations. Environmental concerns have been raised regarding the
potential impact of hydraulic fracturing and the resulting wastewater disposal on underground water supplies and seismic activity. These concerns have led to
several regulatory and governmental initiatives in the United States to restrict the hydraulic fracturing process, which could have an adverse impact on our
customers’ completions or production activities. Although we do not conduct hydraulic fracturing, our products are used in hydraulic fracturing. Increased
regulation and attention given to the hydraulic fracturing process could lead to greater opposition to oil and gas production activities using hydraulic fracturing
techniques. In December 2021, the Texas Railroad Commission, which regulates the state’s oil and gas industry, suspended the use of deep wastewater disposal
wells in four oil-producing counties in West Texas. The suspension is intended to mitigate earthquakes thought to be caused by the injection of waste fluids,
including saltwater, that are a byproduct of hydraulic fracturing into disposal wells. The ban will require oil and gas production companies to find other options
to handle the wastewater, which may include piping or trucking it longer distances to other locations not under the ban. In addition, the Texas Railroad
Commission has overseen the development of well-operator-led response plans to reduce injection volumes in other portions of West Texas in order to reduce
seismicity in these areas. The adoption of new laws or regulations at the federal, state, local or foreign level imposing reporting obligations on, or otherwise
limiting, delaying or banning, the hydraulic fracturing process or other processes on which hydraulic fracturing and subsequent hydrocarbon production relies,
such as water disposal, could make it more difficult to complete oil and natural gas wells. Further, it could increase our customers’ costs of compliance and
doing business, and otherwise adversely affect the hydraulic fracturing services for which they contract, which could negatively impact demand for our
products.

Climate Change. State, national and foreign governments and agencies continue to evaluate, and in some instances adopt, climate-related legislation
and other regulatory initiatives that would restrict emissions of greenhouse gases. Changes in environmental requirements related to greenhouse gases, climate
change and alternative energy sources may negatively impact demand for our services. For example, oil and natural gas exploration and production may
decline as a result of environmental requirements, including land use policies responsive to environmental concerns. In January 2021, the Acting Secretary of
the Department of the Interior issued an order suspending new leasing and drilling permits for fossil fuel production on federal lands and waters for 60 days.
President Biden then issued an executive order indefinitely suspending new oil and natural gas leases on public lands or in offshore waters pending completion
of a comprehensive review and reconsideration of federal oil and gas permitting and leasing practices. While the United States Department of the Interior
announced in April 2022 that it would resume oil and gas leasing on public lands, the topic of oil and gas leasing on public land remains politically fraught, as
the announcement indicated that federal land available for oil and gas leasing will be significantly reduced due to environmental and climate concerns. To the
extent that these developments or other initiatives to reform federal leasing practices result in the development of additional restrictions on drilling, limitations
on the availability of leases, or restrictions on the ability to obtain required permits, it could impact our customers’ opportunities and reduce demand for our
products and services in the aforementioned areas.

Because our business depends on the level of activity in the oil and natural gas industry, existing or future laws, regulations, treaties or international
agreements related to greenhouse gases and climate change, may reduce demand for oil and natural gas and could have a negative impact on our business.
Likewise, such restrictions may result in additional compliance obligations that could have a material adverse effect on our business, consolidated results of
operations and consolidated financial position. In addition, our business could be impacted by initiatives to address greenhouse gases and climate change and
incentives to conserve energy or use alternative energy sources. For example, in August 2022, the Inflation Reduction Act
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of 2022 (the “Inflation Reduction Act”) was signed into law. The Inflation Reduction Act appropriates significant federal funding for the development of
renewable energy, clean hydrogen, clean fuels, electric vehicles and supporting infrastructure and carbon capture and sequestration, amongst other provisions.
In addition, the Inflation Reduction Act imposes the first ever federal fee on the emission of greenhouse gases (“GHG”) through a methane emissions charge.
The Inflation Reduction Act amends the federal Clean Air Act to impose a fee on the emission of methane from sources required to report their GHG emissions
to the EPA, including those sources in the onshore petroleum and natural gas production categories. These developments could further accelerate the transition
of the U.S. economy away from the use of fossil fuels towards lower- or zero-carbon emissions alternatives, which could reduce demand for our products and
services and negatively impact our business.

Insurance and Risk Management

We rely on customer indemnifications and third‑party insurance as part of our risk mitigation strategy. However, our customers may be unable to
satisfy indemnification claims against them. In addition, we indemnify our customers against certain claims and liabilities resulting or arising from our
provision of goods or services to them. Our insurance may not be sufficient to cover any particular loss or may not cover all losses. We carry a variety of
insurance coverages for our operations, and we are partially self‑insured for certain claims, in amounts that we believe to be customary and reasonable.
Historically, insurance rates have been subject to various market fluctuations that may result in less coverage, increased premium costs, or higher deductibles or
self‑insured retentions.

Our insurance includes coverage for commercial general liability, damage to our real and personal property, damage to our mobile equipment, sudden
and accidental pollution liability, workers’ compensation and employer’s liability, auto liability, foreign package policy, commercial crime, fiduciary liability
employment practices, cargo, excess liability, and directors and officers’ insurance. We also maintain a partially self-insured medical plan that utilizes specific
and aggregate stop loss limits. Our insurance includes various limits and deductibles or self‑insured retentions, which must be met prior to, or in conjunction
with, recovery.

Human Capital Management

As of December 31, 2022, we employed over 1,200 people worldwide (not including employees of FlexSteel), of which approximately 1,000 were
employed in the United States. FlexSteel employed 350 people as of December 31, 2022, with 340 employed in the United States and 10 in Canada. We are not
a party to any collective bargaining agreements and have not experienced any strikes or work stoppages. We consider our relations with our workforce to be
good. Our business’s success depends mainly on our ability to attract, retain and motivate a diverse population of talented employees at all levels of our
organization, including the individuals who comprise our global workforce, executive officers and other key personnel. To succeed in a competitive industry,
we have developed key recruitment and retention strategies, objectives and measures which we focus on as part of the overall management of our business.

Recruiting. Our talent strategy is focused on attracting the best talent and rewarding their performance while developing and retaining them. When
hiring, we utilize employee referrals, a variety of social media platforms, regional job fairs and partner with educational organizations across the United States
to find diverse, qualified, motivated and responsible candidates. Additionally, we work with local workforce commissions to ensure we are attracting a diverse
and qualified pool of candidates for each region in which we operate.

Training and Development. We are dedicated to our employees’ training and development, especially those in field and branch operations. Our internal
training focuses on safety, corporate and personal responsibility, product knowledge, behavioral development and ethical conduct. Cactus maintains an internal
database to track training progress and completion for all of our associates, with a particular interest in tracking the training and skill sets of our field service
technicians and managers. This tracking tool enables us to take a holistic view of our strengths by branch and job title, which helps us to manage our operations
and assign jobs to associates with the proper skills, training and experience to safely and efficiently meet or exceed customer demand. Other training courses
offered outside of the company are attended by employees with specialized skills, knowledge or certifications as needed for their ongoing success and
professional development. We believe our continued focus on training and development translates into a safer work environment, opportunities to promote
within the organization, improved employee morale and increased employee retention.

Compensation and Benefits. We provide compensation and benefits programs to help meet the needs of our employees and their families. In addition
to salaries and wages, these programs (which vary by country) include annual bonuses, retirement plans such as a 401(k) plan, healthcare and insurance
benefits, health savings accounts partially funded by the Company, standard flexible spending accounts, personal legal services insurance, company-sponsored
long and short term
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disability, accident and critical illness, paid time off, family leave, partially paid maternity and paternity leave, family care resources and employee assistance
programs, among others. We also offer tuition reimbursement in certain circumstances to support our employees’ continued growth and development.
Additionally, we use targeted equity-based grants with vesting conditions to facilitate the retention of key personnel.

Health and Safety. Our health and safety programs are designed around global standards with appropriate variations addressing the multiple
jurisdictions and regulations, specific hazards and unique working environments of our manufacturing and production facilities, service centers and
headquarters. We require each location to conduct regular safety evaluations to verify that expectations for safety program procedures and training are being
met. We also engage in third party conformity assessments of our HSE processes to determine adherence to our HSE management system and to global health
and safety standards. We monitor our Occupational Safety and Health Administration Total Recordable Incident Rate (“TRIR”) to assess our operation’s health
and safety performance. TRIR is defined as the number of incidents per 100 full-time employees that have resulted in a recordable injury or illness in the
pertinent period. During fiscal year 2022, we had a TRIR of 1.35, which compares to 1.29 in 2021. We had no work-related fatalities in either year. Based on
the most recent statistics available from the International Association of Drilling Contractors, our TRIR statistics are in line with the industry average.

We are committed to the health, safety and wellness of our employees. We provide our employees and their families access to various flexible and
convenient health and wellness programs. These programs include benefits that offer protection and security to have peace of mind concerning events that may
require time away from work or impact their financial well-being. These tools also support their physical and mental health by providing resources to improve
or maintain their health status. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we implemented additional safety measures for employees performing critical on-site
work as well as offering vaccination clinics and testing as necessary.

Available Information

Our principal executive offices are located at 920 Memorial City Way, Suite 300, Houston, TX 77024, and our telephone number at that address is
(713) 626‑8800. Our website address is www.CactusWHD.com. Our periodic reports and other information filed with or furnished to the SEC, including our
Form 10-Ks, Form 10-Qs and Form 8-Ks, as well as amendments to such filings, are available free of charge through our website, as soon as reasonably
practicable after those reports and other information are electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC. Information on our website or any other website is
not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report and does not constitute a part of this Annual Report.

Item 1A.   Risk Factors

Investing in our Class A common stock involves risks. You should carefully consider the information in this Annual Report, including the matters addressed
under “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward‑Looking Statements,” and the following risks before making an investment decision. Our business, results of
operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected by any of these risks. Additional risks or uncertainties not currently known to us,
or that we deem immaterial, may also have an effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. The trading price of our Class A common
stock could decline due to any of these risks, and you may lose all or part of your investment.

Risks Related to the Oilfield Services Industry and Our Business

Demand for our products and services depends on oil and gas industry activity and customer expenditure levels, which are directly affected by trends
in the demand for and price of crude oil and natural gas and availability of capital.

Demand for our products and services depends primarily upon the general level of activity in the oil and gas industry, including the number of drilling
rigs in operation, the number of oil and gas wells being drilled, the depth, lateral length and drilling conditions of these wells, the volume of production, the
number of well completions and the level of well remediation activity, the number of wells put into production and the corresponding capital spending by oil
and gas companies. Oil and gas activity is in turn heavily influenced by, among other factors, current and anticipated oil and natural gas prices locally and
worldwide, which have historically been volatile. Declines, as well as anticipated declines, in oil and gas prices could negatively affect the level of these
activities and capital spending, which could adversely affect demand for our products and services and, in certain instances, result in the cancellation,
modification or rescheduling of existing and expected orders and the ability of our customers to pay us for our products and services. These factors could have
an adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

The oil and gas industry is cyclical and has historically experienced periodic downturns, which have been characterized by diminished demand for our
products and services and downward pressure on the prices we charge. These
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downturns cause many E&P companies to reduce their capital budgets and drilling activity. Any future downturn or expected downturn could result in a
significant decline in demand for oilfield services and adversely affect our business, results of operations and cash flows.

Growth in U.S. drilling and completion activity, and our ability to benefit from such growth, could be adversely affected by any significant constraints
in equipment, labor or takeaway capacity in the regions in which we operate.

Growth in U.S. drilling and completion activity may be impacted by, among other things, the availability and cost of oil country tubular goods
(“OCTG”), pipeline capacity, and material and labor shortages. Should significant growth in activity continue, there could be concerns over availability of the
equipment, materials and labor required to drill and complete a well, together with the ability to move the produced oil and natural gas to market. Should
significant constraints develop that materially impact the efficiency and economics of oil and gas producers, growth in U.S. drilling and completion activity
could be adversely affected. This would have an adverse impact on the demand for the products we sell and rent, which could have a material adverse effect on
our business, results of operations and cash flows.

We may be unable to employ a sufficient number of skilled and qualified workers to sustain or expand our current operations.

The delivery of our products and services requires personnel with specialized skills and experience. Our ability to be productive and profitable will
depend upon our ability to attract and retain skilled workers. In addition, our ability to expand our operations depends in part on our ability to increase the size
of our skilled labor force. The demand for skilled workers is high and the cost to attract and retain qualified personnel has increased. During industry
downturns, skilled workers may leave the industry, reducing the availability of qualified workers when conditions improve. In addition, a significant increase in
the wages paid by competing employers both within and outside of our industry could result in increases in the wage rates that we must pay. If we are not able
to employ and retain skilled workers, our ability to respond quickly to customer demands or strong market conditions may inhibit our growth, which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and cash flows.

Our business is dependent on the continuing services of certain of our key managers and employees.

We depend on key personnel. The loss of key personnel could adversely impact our business. The loss of qualified employees or an inability to retain
and motivate additional highly‑skilled employees required for the operation and expansion of our business could hinder our ability to successfully maintain and
expand our market share.

Political, regulatory, economic and social disruptions in the countries in which we conduct business could adversely affect our business or results of
operations.

In addition to our facilities in the United States, we operate one production facility in China and have facilities in Australia that sell and rent
equipment as well as provide parts, repair services and field services associated with installation. Additionally, we provide rental and field service operations in
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Instability and unforeseen changes in any of the markets in which we conduct business could have an adverse effect on the
demand for, or supply of, our business, results of operations and cash flows.

We are dependent on a relatively small number of customers in a single industry. The loss of an important customer could adversely affect our results
of operations and financial condition.

Our customers are engaged in the oil and natural gas E&P business primarily in the United States, but also in Australia, the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
and select international markets. Historically, we have been dependent on a relatively small number of customers for our revenues. Our business, results of
operations and financial position could be materially adversely affected if an important customer ceases to engage us for our services on favorable terms, or at
all, or fails to pay or delays paying us significant amounts of our outstanding receivables. Additionally, the E&P industry is characterized by frequent
consolidation activity. Changes in ownership of our customers may result in the loss of, or reduction in, business from those customers which could materially
and adversely affect our business, results of operations and cash flows.

Delays in obtaining, or inability to obtain or renew, permits or authorizations by our customers for their operations could impair our business.

Our customers are required to obtain permits or authorizations from one or more governmental agencies or other third parties to perform drilling and
completion activities, including hydraulic fracturing. Such permits or approvals are typically
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required by state agencies but can also be required by federal and local governmental agencies or other third parties. The requirements for such permits or
authorizations vary depending on the location where such drilling and completion activities will be conducted. As with most permitting and authorization
processes, there is a degree of uncertainty as to whether a permit will be granted, the time it will take for a permit or approval to be issued and the conditions
which may be imposed in connection with the granting of the permit. In some jurisdictions, certain regulatory authorities have delayed or suspended the
issuance of permits or authorizations while the potential environmental impacts associated with issuing such permits can be studied and appropriate mitigation
measures evaluated. In Texas, rural water districts have begun to impose restrictions on water use and may require permits for water used in drilling and
completion activities. In addition, in January 2021, President Biden indefinitely suspended new oil and natural gas leases on public lands or in offshore waters
pending completion of a comprehensive review and reconsideration of federal oil and gas permitting and leasing practices. While the United States Department
of the Interior announced in April 2022 that it would resume oil and gas leasing on public lands, the topic of oil and gas leasing on public land remains
politically fraught, as the announcement indicated that federal land available for oil and gas leasing will be significantly reduced due to environmental and
climate concerns. The effects of these developments or other initiatives to reform the federal leasing process could result in additional restrictions or limitations
on the issuance of federal leases and permits for drilling on public lands. Permitting, authorization or renewal delays, the inability to obtain new permits or the
revocation of current permits could impact our customers’ operations and cause a loss of revenue and potentially have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and cash flows.

Competition within the oilfield services industry may adversely affect our ability to market our services.

The oilfield services industry is highly competitive and fragmented and includes numerous companies capable of competing effectively in our
markets, including several large companies that possess substantially greater financial and other resources than we do. The amount of equipment available may
exceed demand, which could result in active price competition. Many contracts are awarded on a bid basis, which may further increase competition based
primarily on price. In addition, adverse market conditions lower demand for well servicing equipment, which results in excess equipment and lower utilization
rates. If market conditions in our operating areas deteriorate from current levels or if adverse market conditions persist, the prices we are able to charge and
utilization rates may decline. Any significant future increase in overall market capacity for the products, rental equipment or services that we offer could
adversely affect our business, results of operations and cash flows.

New technology may cause us to become less competitive.

The oilfield services industry is subject to the introduction of new drilling and completions techniques and services using new technologies, some of
which may be subject to patent or other intellectual property protections. Although we believe our equipment and processes currently give us a competitive
advantage, as competitors and others use or develop new or comparable technologies in the future, we may lose market share or be placed at a competitive
disadvantage. Further, we may face competitive pressure to develop, implement or acquire certain new technologies at a substantial cost. Some of our
competitors have greater financial, technical and personnel resources that may allow them to enjoy various competitive advantages in the development and
implementation of new technologies. We cannot be certain that we will be able to continue to develop and implement new technologies or products. Limits on
our ability to develop, bring to market, effectively use and implement new and emerging technologies may have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and cash flows, including a reduction in the value of assets replaced by new technologies.

Increased costs, or lack of availability, of raw materials and other components may result in increased operating expenses and adversely affect our
results of operations and cash flows.

Our ability to source low cost raw materials and components, such as tube and bar stock, forgings and machined components is critical to our ability to
successfully compete. Due to a shortage of steel caused primarily by production disruptions during the pandemic and the conflict in Ukraine as well as
increased demand while economies rebounded, steel and assembled component prices have been elevated. Our results of operations may be adversely affected
by our inability to manage higher costs and the availability of raw materials and components used in our wide variety of products and systems. Additionally,
freight costs, specifically ocean freight costs, rose significantly during and following the pandemic. We cannot assure that we will be able to continue to
purchase and move these materials on a timely basis or at commercially viable prices, nor can we be certain of the impact of changes to tariffs and future
legislation that may impact trade with China or other countries. Further, unexpected changes in the size of regional and/or product markets, particularly for
short lead‑time products, could affect our results of operations and cash flows. Should our current suppliers be unable to provide the necessary raw materials or
components or otherwise fail to deliver such materials and components timely and in the quantities required, resulting delays in the provision of products or
services to our customers could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and cash flows.
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In 2022, the United States experienced the highest inflation in decades primarily due to supply-chain issues, a shortage of labor and a build-up of
demand for goods and services. Our business was impacted by increased freight, materials and vehicle-related costs as well as higher salaries and wages. While
we believe that the rate of inflation is abating, we expect we will continue to experience inflationary pressures on portions of our cost structure. Our results of
operations may be adversely affected by further rising costs to the extent we are unable to recoup them from our customers.

We design, manufacture, sell, rent and install equipment that is used in oil and gas E&P activities, which may subject us to liability, including claims
for personal injury, property damage and environmental contamination should such equipment fail to perform to specifications.

We provide products and systems to customers involved in oil and gas exploration, development and production. Some of our equipment is designed
to operate in high‑temperature and/or high‑pressure environments, and some equipment is designed for use in hydraulic fracturing operations. We also provide
parts, repair services and field services associated with installation at all of our facilities and service centers in the United States and Australia, as well as at
customer sites, including sites in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Because of applications to which our products and services are exposed, particularly those
involving high pressure environments, a failure of such equipment, or a failure of our customers to maintain or operate the equipment properly, could cause
damage to the equipment, damage to the property of customers and others, personal injury and environmental contamination and could lead to a variety of
claims against us that could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and cash flows.

We indemnify our customers against certain claims and liabilities resulting or arising from our provision of goods or services to them. In addition, we
rely on customer indemnifications, generally, and third‑party insurance as part of our risk mitigation strategy. However, our insurance may not be adequate to
cover our liabilities. In addition, our customers may be unable to satisfy indemnification claims against them. Further, insurance companies may refuse to
honor their policies, or insurance may not generally be available in the future, or if available, premiums may not be commercially justifiable. We could incur
substantial liabilities and damages that are either not covered by customer indemnities or insurance or that are in excess of policy limits, or incur liability at a
time when we are not able to obtain liability insurance. Such potential liabilities could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
cash flows.

Our operations are subject to hazards inherent in the oil and natural gas industry, which could expose us to substantial liability and cause us to lose
customers and substantial revenue.

Risks inherent in our industry include the risks of equipment defects, installation errors, the presence of multiple contractors at the wellsite over which
we have no control, vehicle accidents, fires, explosions, blowouts, surface cratering, uncontrollable flows of gas or well fluids, pipe or pipeline failures,
abnormally pressured formations and various environmental hazards such as oil spills and releases of, and exposure to, hazardous substances. For example, our
operations are subject to risks associated with hydraulic fracturing, including any mishandling, surface spillage or potential underground migration of fracturing
fluids, including chemical additives. The occurrence of any of these events could result in substantial losses to us due to injury or loss of life, severe damage to
or destruction of property, natural resources and equipment, pollution or other environmental damage, clean‑up responsibilities, regulatory investigations and
penalties, suspension of operations and repairs required to resume operations. The cost of managing such risks may be significant. The frequency and severity
of such incidents will affect operating costs, insurability and relationships with customers, employees and regulators. In particular, our customers may elect not
to purchase our products or services if they view our environmental or safety record as unacceptable, which could cause us to lose customers and substantial
revenues.

Our customer indemnities or insurance may not be adequate to cover all losses or liabilities we may suffer. Also, insurance may no longer be available
to us or its availability may be at premium levels that do not justify its purchase. The occurrence of a significant uninsured claim, a claim in excess of the
insurance coverage limits maintained by us or a claim at a time when we are not able to obtain liability insurance could have a material adverse effect on our
ability to conduct normal business operations and on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. In addition, we may not be able to secure
additional insurance or bonding that might be required by new governmental regulations. This may cause us to restrict our operations, which might severely
impact our business, results of operations and cash flows.

Oilfield anti-indemnity provisions enacted by many states may restrict or prohibit a party’s indemnification of us.

We typically enter into agreements with our customers governing the provision of our services, which usually include certain indemnification
provisions for losses resulting from operations. Such agreements may require each party to indemnify the other against certain claims regardless of the
negligence or other fault of the indemnified party; however, many states place limitations on contractual indemnity agreements, particularly agreements that
indemnify a party against the consequences of its
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own negligence. Furthermore, certain states, including Louisiana, New Mexico, Texas, and Wyoming, have enacted statutes generally referred to as “oilfield
anti-indemnity acts” expressly prohibiting certain indemnity agreements contained in or related to oilfield services agreements. Such oilfield anti-indemnity
acts may restrict or void a party’s indemnification of us, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and cash flows.

Our operations require us to comply with various domestic and international regulations, violations of which could have a material adverse effect on
our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

We are exposed to a variety of federal, state, local and international laws and regulations relating to matters such as environmental, workplace, health
and safety, labor and employment, customs and tariffs, export and re-export controls, economic sanctions, currency exchange, bribery and corruption and
taxation. These laws and regulations are complex, frequently change and have tended to become more stringent over time. They may be adopted, enacted,
amended, enforced or interpreted in such a manner that the incremental cost of compliance could adversely impact our business, results of operations and cash
flows.

In addition to our U.S. operations, we have operations in the People’s Republic of China, Australia and the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Our operations
outside of the United States require us to comply with numerous anti‑bribery and anti‑corruption regulations. The U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, among
others, applies to us and our operations. Our policies, procedures and programs may not always protect us from reckless or criminal acts committed by our
employees or agents, and severe criminal or civil sanctions may be imposed as a result of violations of these laws. We are also subject to the risks that our
employees and agents outside of the United States may fail to comply with applicable laws.

In addition, we import raw materials, semi‑finished goods, and finished products into the United States, China, Australia and the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia for use in such countries or for manufacturing and/or finishing for re‑export and import into another country for use or further integration into
equipment or systems. Most movement of raw materials, semi‑finished or finished products involves imports and exports. As a result, compliance with multiple
trade sanctions, embargoes and import/export laws and regulations pose a constant challenge and risk to us since a portion of our business is conducted outside
of the United States through our subsidiaries. Our failure to comply with these laws and regulations could materially affect our business, results of operations
and cash flows.

Compliance with environmental laws and regulations may adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Environmental laws and regulations in the United States and foreign countries affect the equipment, systems and services we design, market and sell,
as well as the facilities where we manufacture and produce our equipment and systems in the United States and China, and opportunities our customers pursue
that create demand for our products. For example, we or our products may be affected by such laws as the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, the Clean Water Act, the Clean Air Act and the Occupational Safety and Health Act
of 1970. Further, our customers may be subject to a range of laws and regulations governing hydraulic fracturing, drilling and greenhouse gas emissions.

We are required to invest financial and managerial resources to comply with environmental laws and regulations and believe that we will continue to
be required to do so in the future. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may result in the assessment of administrative, civil and criminal penalties,
the imposition of remedial obligations, or the issuance of orders enjoining operations. These laws and regulations, as well as the adoption of other new laws
and regulations affecting our operations or the exploration and production and transportation of crude oil and natural gas by our customers, could adversely
affect our business and operating results by increasing our costs of compliance, increasing the costs of compliance and costs of doing business for our
customers, limiting the demand for our products and services or restricting our operations. Increased regulation or a move away from the use of fossil fuels
caused by additional regulation could also reduce demand for our products and services.

Existing or future laws and regulations related to greenhouse gases and climate change and related public and governmental initiatives and additional
compliance obligations could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial condition.

Changes in environmental requirements related to greenhouse gas emissions may negatively impact demand for our products and services. Oil and
natural gas E&P may decline as a result of environmental requirements, including land use policies and other actions to restrict oil and gas leasing and
permitting in response to environmental and climate change concerns. Federal, state, and local agencies continue to evaluate climate-related legislation and
other regulatory initiatives that would restrict emissions of greenhouse gases in areas in which we conduct business. Because our business depends on the level
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of activity in the oil and natural gas industry, existing or future laws and regulations related to greenhouse gases could have a negative impact on our business if
such laws or regulations reduce demand for oil and natural gas. Likewise, such laws or regulations may result in additional compliance obligations with respect
to the release, capture, sequestration, and use of greenhouse gases. These additional obligations could increase our costs and have a material adverse effect on
our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial condition. Additional compliance obligations could also increase costs of compliance and costs of
doing business for our customers, thereby reducing demand for our products and services. Finally, increasing concentrations of greenhouse gases in the Earth’s
atmosphere may produce climate changes that could have significant physical effects, such as increased frequency and severity of storms, droughts, floods and
other climatic events; if such effects were to occur, they could have an adverse impact on our operations.

Many of our customers utilize hydraulic fracturing in their operations. Environmental concerns have been raised regarding the potential impact of
hydraulic fracturing on underground water supplies and seismic activity. These concerns have led to several regulatory and governmental initiatives in the
United States to restrict the hydraulic fracturing process, which could have an adverse impact on our customers’ completions or production activities. Although
we do not conduct hydraulic fracturing, our products are used in hydraulic fracturing. Increased regulation and attention given to the hydraulic fracturing
process could lead to greater opposition to oil and gas production activities using hydraulic fracturing techniques. In December 2021, the Texas Railroad
Commission, which regulates the state’s oil and gas industry, suspended the use of deep wastewater disposal wells in four oil-producing counties in West Texas.
The suspension is intended to mitigate earthquakes thought to be caused by the injection of waste fluids, including saltwater, that are a byproduct of hydraulic
fracturing into disposal wells. The ban will require oil and gas production companies to find other options to handle the wastewater, which may include piping
or trucking it longer distances to other locations not under the ban. In addition, the Texas Railroad Commission has overseen the development of well-operator-
led response plans to reduce injection volumes in other portions of West Texas in order to reduce seismicity in these areas. The adoption of new laws or
regulations at the federal, state, local or foreign level imposing reporting obligations on, or otherwise limiting, delaying or banning, the hydraulic fracturing
process or other processes on which hydraulic fracturing and subsequent hydrocarbon production relies, such as water disposal, could make it more difficult to
complete oil and natural gas wells. Further, it could increase our customers’ costs of compliance and doing business, and otherwise adversely affect the
hydraulic fracturing services they perform, which could negatively impact demand for our products.

Increasing attention by the public and government agencies to climate change and environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) matters could also
negatively impact demand for our products and services. Increasing attention is being given to corporate activities related to ESG in public discourse and the
investment community. A number of advocacy groups, both domestically and internationally, have campaigned for governmental and private action to promote
change at public companies related to ESG matters, including through the investment and voting practices of investment advisers, public pension funds,
universities and other members of the investing community. These activities include increasing attention and demands for action related to climate change and
energy rebalancing matters, such as promoting the use of substitutes to fossil fuel products and encouraging the divestment of fossil fuel equities, as well as
pressuring lenders and other financial services companies to limit or curtail activities with fossil fuel companies. If this were to continue, it could have a
material adverse effect on the valuation of our Class A common stock and our ability to access equity capital markets.

In addition, our business could be impacted by initiatives to address greenhouse gases and climate change and public pressure to conserve energy or
use alternative energy sources. State or federal initiatives to incentivize a shift away from fossil fuels could also reduce demand for hydrocarbons. For example,
in August 2022, the Inflation Reduction Act was signed into law. The Inflation Reduction Act appropriates significant federal funding for the development of
renewable energy, clean hydrogen, clean fuels, electric vehicles and supporting infrastructure and carbon capture and sequestration, amongst other provisions.
In addition, the Inflation Reduction Act imposes the first ever federal fee on the emission of GHG through a methane emissions charge. The Inflation
Reduction Act amends the federal Clean Air Act to impose a fee on the emission of methane from sources required to report their GHG emissions to the EPA,
including those sources in the onshore petroleum and natural gas production categories. These developments could further accelerate the transition of the U.S.
economy away from the use of fossil fuels towards lower- or zero-carbon emissions alternatives, which would reduce demand for our products and services and
negatively impact our business.

The global outbreak of COVID-19 has had, and it or other outbreaks in the future may have, an adverse impact on our business and operations.

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has negatively affected, and could continue to negatively affect, our revenues and operations. We have
experienced, and may experience in the future, slowdowns or temporary idling of certain of our manufacturing and service facilities due to a number of factors,
including implementing additional safety measures, testing of our team members, team member absenteeism and governmental orders. A prolonged closure
could have a material adverse
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impact on our ability to operate our business and on our results of operations. We have also experienced, and could continue to experience, disruption and
volatility in our supply chain, which has resulted, and may continue to result, in increased costs for certain goods. The spread of COVID-19 has also disrupted
and may continue to disrupt logistics necessary to import, export and deliver products to us and our customers. Further, we might experience temporary
shortages of labor, making it difficult to provide field service technicians to install or service our equipment. The extent of the adverse impact of COVID-19 on
general economic conditions and on our business, operations and results of operations remains uncertain.

In addition, outbreaks of other pandemics or contagious diseases may in the future disrupt our operations, suppliers or facilities, result in increased
costs for certain goods or otherwise impact us in a manner similar to the COVID-19 pandemic.

The ongoing conflict in Ukraine may adversely affect our business and results of operations.

The ongoing conflict in Ukraine could have adverse effects on global macroeconomic conditions which could negatively impact our business and
results of operations. The conflict is highly unpredictable and has already resulted in significant volatility with oil and natural gas prices worldwide. Elevated
energy prices could result in higher inflation worldwide, causing economic uncertainty in the oil and natural gas markets as well as the stock market, resulting
in stock price volatility, foreign currency fluctuations and supply chain disruptions. These conditions could ultimately dampen demand for our goods and
services by increasing the possibility of a recession. In addition, the conflict could lead to increased cyberattacks or could aggravate other risk factors that we
identify in our public filings.

Risks Related to Our Class A Common Stock

We are a holding company whose only material asset is our equity interest in Cactus Companies, and accordingly, we are dependent upon distributions
from Cactus Companies to pay taxes, make payments under the TRA and cover our corporate and other overhead expenses and pay dividends to
holders of our Class A Common Stock.

We are a holding company and have no material assets other than our equity interest in Cactus Companies. We have no independent means of
generating revenue. To the extent Cactus Companies has available cash and subject to the terms of any current or future credit agreements or debt instruments,
we intend to cause Cactus Companies to make (i) pro rata distributions to its unit holders, including us, in an amount at least sufficient to allow us to pay our
taxes and to make payments under the TRA and (ii) non‑pro rata payments to us to reimburse us for our corporate and other overhead expenses. To the extent
that we need funds and Cactus Companies or its subsidiaries are restricted from making such distributions or payments under applicable law or regulation or
under the terms of any future financing arrangements, or are otherwise unable to provide such funds, our financial condition and liquidity could be materially
adversely affected. In addition, our ability to pay dividends to holders of our Class A common stock depends on receipt of distributions from Cactus
Companies.

Moreover, because we have no independent means of generating revenue, our ability to make payments under the TRA is dependent on the ability of
Cactus Companies to make distributions to us in an amount sufficient to cover our obligations under the TRA. This ability, in turn, may depend on the ability of
Cactus Companies’ subsidiaries to make distributions to it. The ability of Cactus Companies and its subsidiaries to make such distributions will be subject to,
among other things, (i) the applicable provisions of Delaware law (or other applicable U.S. and foreign jurisdictions) that may limit the amount of funds
available for distribution and (ii) restrictions in relevant debt instruments issued by Cactus Companies or its subsidiaries. To the extent that we are unable to
make payments under the TRA for any reason, such payments will be deferred and will accrue interest until paid.

Cactus WH Enterprises LLC has the ability to direct the voting of a significant percentage of the voting power of our common stock, and its interests
may conflict with those of our other shareholders.

Holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock vote together as a single class on all matters presented to our stockholders for their vote
or approval, except as otherwise required by applicable law or our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. Cactus WH Enterprises owned
approximately 18% of our voting power as of December 31, 2022. This concentration of ownership may limit a stockholder’s ability to affect the way we are
managed or the direction of our business. The interests of Cactus WH Enterprises with respect to matters potentially or actually involving or affecting us, such
as future acquisitions, financings and other corporate opportunities and attempts to acquire us, may conflict with the interests of our other stockholders.
Furthermore, in connection with our IPO, we entered into a stockholders’ agreement with Cactus WH Enterprises. Among other things, the stockholders’
agreement, as amended, provides Cactus WH Enterprises with the right to designate a certain number of nominees to our board of directors so long as they and
their respective affiliates collectively beneficially own at least 5% of the outstanding shares of our common stock. The existence of significant stockholders and
the stockholders’ agreement may have the effect of deterring hostile takeovers, delaying or preventing changes in control or
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changes in management or limiting the ability of our other stockholders to approve transactions that they may deem to be in our best interests. Cactus WH
Enterprises’ concentration of stock ownership may also adversely affect the trading price of our Class A common stock to the extent investors perceive a
disadvantage in owning stock of a company with significant stockholders.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, as well as Delaware law, contain provisions that could
discourage acquisition bids or merger proposals, which may adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes our board of directors to issue preferred stock without shareholder approval. If our
board of directors elects to issue preferred stock, it could be more difficult for a third party to acquire us. In addition, some provisions of our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire control of us, even if the change
of control would be beneficial to our shareholders, including:

• limitations on the removal of directors, including a classified board whereby only one-third of the directors are elected each year;
• limitations on the ability of our shareholders to call special meetings;
• establishing advance notice provisions for shareholder proposals and nominations for elections to the board of directors to be acted upon at

meetings of shareholders;
• providing that the board of directors is expressly authorized to adopt, or to alter or repeal our bylaws; and
• establishing advance notice and certain information requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters

that can be acted upon by shareholders at shareholder meetings.

In addition, certain change of control events have the effect of accelerating the payment due under the TRA, which could be substantial and
accordingly serve as a disincentive to a potential acquirer of our company.

Future sales of our Class A common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales may occur, could reduce our stock price, and any
additional capital raised by us through the sale of equity or convertible securities may dilute your ownership in us.

Subject to certain limitations and exceptions, the CC Unit Holders may cause Cactus Companies to redeem their CC Units for shares of Class A
common stock (on a one‑for‑one basis, subject to conversion rate adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends and reclassification and other similar
transactions) and then sell those shares of Class A common stock. Additionally, we may issue additional shares of Class A common stock or convertible
securities in subsequent public offerings. We had 64,127,114 outstanding shares of Class A common stock and 14,978,225 outstanding shares of Class B
common stock as of February 27, 2023. The CC Unit Holders own all outstanding shares of our Class B common stock, representing approximately 19% of our
total outstanding common stock.

As required pursuant to the terms of the registration rights agreement that we entered into at the time of our IPO, we have filed a registration statement
on Form S-3 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, to permit the public resale of shares of Class A common stock owned by Cactus WH Enterprises,
Lee Boquet and certain members of our board of directors. See “Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions, and Director Independence—
Stockholders’ Agreement” for more information. 

We cannot predict the size of future issuances of our Class A common stock or securities convertible into Class A common stock or the effect, if any,
that future issuances and sales of shares of our Class A common stock will have on the market price of our Class A common stock. Sales of substantial amounts
of our Class A common stock (including shares issued in connection with an acquisition), or the perception that such sales could occur, may adversely affect
prevailing market prices of our Class A common stock.

Cactus Inc. will be required to make payments under the TRA for certain tax benefits that we may claim, and the amounts of such payments could be
significant.

In connection with our IPO, we entered into the TRA with certain direct and indirect owners of Cactus LLC (the “TRA Holders”). Following
completion of the CC Reorganization, the TRA Holders are certain direct and indirect owners of Cactus Companies and prior direct and indirect owners of
Cactus LLC. This agreement generally provides for the payment by Cactus Inc. to each TRA Holder of 85% of the net cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state
and local income tax and franchise tax that Cactus Inc. actually realizes or is deemed to realize in certain circumstances as a result of certain increases in tax
basis
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and certain benefits attributable to imputed interest. Cactus Inc. will retain the benefit of the remaining 15% of these net cash savings.

The term of the TRA will continue until all tax benefits that are subject to the TRA have been utilized or expired, unless we exercise our right to
terminate the TRA (or the TRA is terminated due to other circumstances, including our breach of a material obligation thereunder or certain mergers or other
changes of control relating to Cactus Companies), and we make the termination payment specified in the TRA. In addition, payments we make under the TRA
will be increased by any interest accrued from the due date (without extensions) of the corresponding tax return. Payments under the TRA commenced in 2019,
and in the event that the TRA is not terminated, the payments under the TRA are anticipated to continue for approximately 20 years after the date of the last
redemption of CC Units.

The payment obligations under the TRA are our obligations and not obligations of Cactus Companies, and we expect that the payments we will be
required to make under the TRA will be substantial. Estimating the amount and timing of payments that may become due under the TRA Agreement is by its
nature imprecise. For purposes of the TRA, cash savings in tax generally are calculated by comparing our actual tax liability (determined by using the actual
applicable U.S. federal income tax rate and an assumed combined state and local income tax rate) to the amount we would have been required to pay had we
not been able to utilize any of the tax benefits subject to the TRA. The amounts payable, as well as the timing of any payments under the TRA, are dependent
upon significant future events and assumptions, including the timing of the redemption of CC Units, the price of our Class A common stock at the time of each
redemption, the extent to which such redemptions are taxable transactions, the amount of the redeeming unit holder’s tax basis in its CC Units at the time of the
relevant redemption, the depreciation and amortization periods that apply to the increase in tax basis, the amount and timing of taxable income we generate in
the future and the U.S. federal income tax rates then applicable, and the portion of our payments under the TRA that constitute imputed interest or give rise to
depreciable or amortizable tax basis. The payments under the TRA are not conditioned upon a holder of rights under the TRA having a continued ownership
interest in us.

In certain cases, payments under the TRA may be accelerated and/or significantly exceed the actual benefits, if any, we realize in respect of the tax
attributes subject to the TRA.

If we elect to terminate the TRA early or it is terminated early due to Cactus Inc.’s failure to honor a material obligation thereunder or due to certain
mergers or other changes of control, our obligations under the TRA would accelerate and we would be required to make an immediate payment equal to the
present value of the anticipated future payments to be made by us under the TRA (determined by applying a discount rate of one‑year LIBOR plus 150 basis
points) and such payment is expected to be substantial. The calculation of anticipated future payments will be based upon certain assumptions and deemed
events set forth in the TRA, including (i) the assumption that we have sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the tax benefits covered by the TRA and (ii) the
assumption that any CC Units (other than those held by Cactus Inc.) outstanding on the termination date are deemed to be redeemed on the termination date.
Any early termination payment may be made significantly in advance of the actual realization, if any, of the future tax benefits to which the termination
payment relates.

As a result of either an early termination or a change of control, we could be required to make payments under the TRA that exceed our actual cash tax
savings under the TRA. In these situations, our obligations under the TRA could have a substantial negative impact on our liquidity and could have the effect of
delaying, deferring or preventing certain mergers, asset sales, or other forms of business combinations or changes of control. If the TRA were terminated as of
December 31, 2022, the estimated termination payments, based on the assumptions discussed above, would have been approximately $291.2 million
(calculated using a discount rate equal to one-year LIBOR plus 150 basis points, applied against an undiscounted liability of approximately $456.6 million).
The foregoing number is merely an estimate and the actual payment could differ materially. There can be no assurance that we will be able to finance our
obligations under the TRA.

Payments under the TRA are based on the tax reporting positions that we will determine. The TRA Holders will not reimburse us for any payments
previously made under the TRA if any tax benefits that have given rise to payments under the TRA are subsequently disallowed, except that excess payments
made to any TRA Holder will be netted against payments that would otherwise be made to such TRA Holder, if any, after our determination of such excess. As
a result, in some circumstances, we could make payments that are greater than our actual cash tax savings, if any, and may not be able to recoup those
payments, which could adversely affect our liquidity.

If Cactus Companies were to become a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we and
Cactus Companies might be subject to potentially significant tax inefficiencies, and we would not be able to recover payments previously made by us
under the TRA even if the corresponding tax benefits were subsequently determined to have been unavailable due to such status.
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We intend to operate such that Cactus Companies does not become a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax
purposes. A “publicly traded partnership” is a partnership the interests of which are traded on an established securities market or are readily tradable on a
secondary market or the substantial equivalent thereof. Under certain circumstances, redemptions of CC Units pursuant to the Redemption Right or our Call
Right (each as defined in Note 10 in the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements) or other transfers of CC Units could cause Cactus Companies to be
treated as a publicly traded partnership. Applicable U.S. Treasury regulations provide for certain safe harbors from treatment as a publicly traded partnership,
and we intend to operate such that one or more such safe harbors shall apply. For example, we intend to limit the number of unit holders of Cactus Companies,
and the Cactus Wellhead LLC Agreement, which was entered into in connection with the closing of our IPO, provides for limitations on the ability of CC Unit
Holders to transfer their CC Units and provides us, as managing member of Cactus Companies, with the right to impose restrictions (in addition to those
already in place) on the ability of unit holders of Cactus Companies to redeem their CC Units pursuant to the Redemption Right to the extent we believe it is
necessary to ensure that Cactus Companies will continue to be treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

If Cactus Companies were to become a publicly traded partnership, significant tax inefficiencies might result for us and for Cactus Companies,
including as a result of our inability to file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return with Cactus Companies. In addition, we would no longer have the
benefit of certain increases in tax basis covered under the TRA, and we would not be able to recover any payments previously made by us under the TRA, even
if the corresponding tax benefits (including any claimed increase in the tax basis of Cactus Companies’ assets) were subsequently determined to have been
unavailable.

Risks Related to the Merger

We may not realize the anticipated benefits from the Merger and the Merger could adversely impact our business and our operating results.

We may not be able to achieve the full potential strategic and financial benefits that we expect to achieve from the Merger, or such benefits may be
delayed or not occur at all. We may not achieve the anticipated benefits from the Merger for a variety of reasons, including, among others, unanticipated costs,
charges and expenses. For example, the capital needs of the FlexSteel business may exceed our current expectations. If we fail to achieve some or all of the
benefits expected to result from the Merger, or if such benefits are delayed, our business could be harmed.

FlexSteel’s operations are subject to many of the same risks as our historical operations. The failure of FlexSteel to obtain financial results after the
Merger similar to those obtained in the past could adversely impact our business and our consolidated operating results.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information filed as Exhibit 99.3 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 10, 2023
was based on a number of preliminary estimates and assumptions and our actual results of operations, cash flows and financial position after the
Merger may differ materially.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information filed as Exhibit 99.3 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 10, 2023 was
for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of what our actual results of operations, cash flows and financial position would have been had
the Merger and the offering been completed on the dates indicated. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information reflected adjustments,
which were based upon preliminary estimates, to record the FlexSteel identifiable assets to be acquired and liabilities to be assumed at fair value, and the
resulting goodwill to be recognized. The purchase price allocation reflected was preliminary, and final allocation of the purchase price will be based upon the
actual purchase price and the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the Merger. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
information was also based on a number of other estimates and assumptions, including estimates and assumptions of the type and terms of a portion of the debt
to be incurred to finance a portion of the purchase price payable under the Merger Agreement and pay fees and expenses related to the Merger and the related
transactions. To the extent the type or terms of the new debt actually incurred differ materially from the estimates and assumptions set out in the unaudited pro
forma condensed combined financial information, our actual results and financial condition after the completion of the Merger would differ materially from the
results and financial condition contemplated by the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.

Further, the historical financial data for FlexSteel filed as Exhibits 99.1 and 99.2 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 10, 2023 may not be
indicative of the financial position or results of operations that the combined company will achieve in the future. FlexSteel’s operations are subject to many of
the same risks as our historical operations, any of which may also adversely affect the combined company’s business, operating results, financial condition and
prospects.

19



Table of Contents

We may experience difficulties in integrating the operations of FlexSteel into our business and in realizing the expected benefits of the Merger.

The success of the Merger will depend in part on our ability to realize the anticipated business opportunities from combining the operations of
FlexSteel with our business in an efficient and effective manner. The integration process could take longer than anticipated and could result in the distraction of
management, the loss of key employees from either company, the disruption of each company’s ongoing businesses, tax costs or inefficiencies, or
inconsistencies in standards, controls, information technology systems, procedures and policies, any of which could adversely affect our ability to maintain
relationships with customers, employees or other third parties, or our ability to achieve the anticipated benefits of the Merger, and could harm our financial
performance. If we are unable to successfully or timely integrate the operations of FlexSteel with our business, we may incur unanticipated liabilities and be
unable to realize the revenue growth and other anticipated benefits resulting from the Merger, and our business, results of operations and financial condition
could be materially and adversely affected.

FlexSteel may have liabilities that are not known to us and the indemnities negotiated in the Merger Agreement may not offer adequate protection.

As part of the Merger, we have assumed certain liabilities of FlexSteel. There may be liabilities that we failed or were unable to discover in the course
of performing due diligence investigations into FlexSteel. We may also have not correctly assessed the significance of certain FlexSteel liabilities identified in
the course of our due diligence. Any such liabilities, individually or in the aggregate, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations. As we integrate FlexSteel into our operations, we may learn additional information about FlexSteel, such as unknown or contingent
liabilities and issues relating to compliance with applicable laws, that could potentially have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

We will not be able to enforce claims with respect to the representations and warranties that the sellers of FlexSteel provided under the Merger
Agreement.

In connection with the Merger, the sellers of FlexSteel gave customary representations and warranties related to FlexSteel under the Merger
Agreement. We will not be able to enforce any claims against the sellers including any claims relating to breaches of such representations and warranties. The
sellers’ liability with respect to breaches of their representations and warranties under the Merger Agreement is limited. To provide for coverage against certain
breaches by the sellers of its representations and warranties and certain pre-closing taxes of FlexSteel, we have obtained a representation and warranty
insurance policy. The policy is subject to a retention amount, exclusions, policy limits and certain other customary terms and conditions.

The Amended ABL Credit Facility is required to fund a portion of the purchase price payable under the Merger Agreement, which will result in
increased interest expenses, financial covenants, security interest in the assets of the Company’s subsidiaries and use of cash flows to repay the debt.

In connection with the Merger, we obtained debt financing under the Amended ABL Credit Facility to pay a portion of the purchase price payable
under the Merger Agreement. In addition to paying interest on the loans, we are required to repay the term loan on an accelerated basis and to comply with
various covenants and restrictive provisions that limit Cactus Companies’ and each of its subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things, incur additional
indebtedness and create liens, make investments or loans, merge or consolidate with other companies, sell assets, make certain restricted payments and
distributions, and engage in transactions with affiliates. The obligations under the Amended ABL Credit Facility are guaranteed by certain subsidiaries of
Cactus Companies and secured by a security interest in accounts receivable, inventory, equipment and certain other real and personal property assets of Cactus
Companies and its subsidiaries. If Cactus Companies fails to perform its obligations under the Amended ABL Credit Facility, (i) the revolving commitments
under the Amended ABL Credit Facility could be terminated, (ii) any outstanding borrowings under the Amended ABL Credit Facility may be declared
immediately due and payable and (iii) the lenders may commence foreclosure or other actions against the collateral. The repayment and other obligations under
the Amended ABL Credit Facility may also limit free cash flow available for other corporate purposes, including capital expenditures or paying dividends.
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General Risks

A failure of our information technology infrastructure and cyberattacks could adversely impact us.

We depend on our information technology (“IT”) systems for the efficient operation of our business. Accordingly, we rely upon the capacity, reliability
and security of our IT hardware and software infrastructure and our ability to expand and update this infrastructure in response to our changing needs. Despite
our implementation of security measures, our systems are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, natural disasters, incursions by intruders or hackers,
failures in hardware or software, power fluctuations, cyber terrorists and other similar disruptions. Additionally, we rely on third parties to support the operation
of our IT hardware and software infrastructure, and in certain instances, utilize web‑based applications. The failure of our IT systems or those of our vendors to
perform as anticipated for any reason or any significant breach of security could disrupt our business and result in numerous adverse consequences, including
reduced effectiveness and efficiency of operations, inappropriate disclosure of confidential and proprietary information, reputational harm, increased overhead
costs and loss of important information, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. In addition, we may be required
to incur significant costs to protect against damage caused by these disruptions or security breaches in the future.

Holders of our Class A common stock may not receive dividends on their Class A common stock.

Holders of our Class A common stock are entitled to receive only such dividends as our board of directors may declare out of funds legally available
for such payments. We are incorporated in Delaware and are governed by the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”). The DGCL allows a corporation
to pay dividends only out of a surplus, as determined under Delaware law or, if there is no surplus, out of net profits for the fiscal year in which the dividend
was declared and for the preceding fiscal year. Under the DGCL, however, we cannot pay dividends out of net profits if, after we pay the dividend, our capital
would be less than the capital represented by the outstanding stock of all classes having a preference upon the distribution of assets. We are not required to pay
a dividend, and any determination to pay dividends and other distributions in cash, stock or property by us in the future (including determinations as to the
amount of any such dividend or distribution) will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will be dependent on then-existing conditions, including
business conditions, our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, capital requirements, contractual restrictions, including restrictive covenants
contained in debt agreements, and other factors.

If we are unable to fully protect our intellectual property rights or trade secrets or a third party attempts to enforce their intellectual property rights
against us, we may suffer a loss in revenue or any competitive advantage or market share we hold, or we may incur costs in litigation defending
intellectual property rights.

While we have some patents and others pending, we do not have patents relating to many of our key processes and technology. If we are not able to
maintain the confidentiality of our trade secrets, or if our competitors are able to replicate our technology or services, our competitive advantage could be
diminished. We also cannot provide any assurance that any patents we may obtain in the future would provide us with any significant commercial benefit or
would allow us to prevent our competitors from employing comparable technologies or processes. We may initiate litigation from time to time to protect and
enforce our intellectual property rights. In any such litigation, a defendant may assert that our intellectual property rights are invalid or unenforceable. Third
parties from time to time may also initiate litigation against us by asserting that our businesses infringe, impair, misappropriate, dilute or otherwise violate
another party’s intellectual property rights. We may not prevail in any such litigation, and our intellectual property rights may be found invalid or unenforceable
or our products and services may be found to infringe, impair, misappropriate, dilute or otherwise violate the intellectual property rights of others. The results
or costs of any such litigation may have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Any litigation concerning intellectual
property could be protracted and costly, is inherently unpredictable and could have an adverse effect on our business, regardless of its outcome.

Item 1B.   Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2.    Properties

The following table sets forth information with respect to our current principal facilities after the Merger with FlexSteel. We believe that our facilities
are suitable and adequate for our current operations, taking into consideration the FlexSteel business.

Location   Type  
Own/
Lease

United States        
Baytown, TX Manufacturing Facility, Service Center and Land Own
Bossier City, LA   Manufacturing Facility and Service Center   Lease
Bossier City, LA   Manufacturing and Assembly Facilities, Warehouse and Land   Own
Donora, PA   Service Center   Lease
DuBois, PA   Service Center   Lease
Hobbs, NM   Service Center / Land   Own
Hobbs, NM Service Center Lease
Houston, TX   Administrative Headquarters   Lease
New Waverly, TX   Service Center / Land   Own
Odessa, TX   Service Center   Lease
Oklahoma City, OK   Service Center   Lease
Pleasanton, TX Service Center Own
Pleasanton, TX   Service Center   Lease
Williston, ND   Service Center   Lease

China and Australia        
Queensland, Australia   Service Centers and Offices / Land   Lease
Suzhou, China   Production Facility and Offices   Lease

Consists of various facilities adjacent to each other constituting our manufacturing facility, test and assembly facility, warehouse and service center.
    We also own land adjacent to these facilities.

Item 3.    Legal Proceedings

Due to the nature of our business, we are, from time to time, involved in routine litigation or subject to disputes or claims related to our business
activities, including workers’ compensation claims and employment related disputes. In the opinion of our management, there is no pending litigation, dispute
or claim against us that, if decided adversely, will have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

Item 4.    Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

PART II

Item 5.    Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Common Stock

We have issued and outstanding two classes of common stock, Class A common stock and Class B common stock. Holders of Class B common stock
own a corresponding number of CC Units which may be redeemed for shares of Class A common stock. The principal market for our Class A common stock is
the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), where it is traded under the symbol “WHD.” No public trading market currently exists for our Class B common
stock. As of December 31, 2022, there were two holders of record of our Class A common stock. This number excludes owners for whom Class A common
stock may be held in “street name.” As of December 31, 2022, there were six holders of record of our Class B common stock.

(1)

(1)

(2)

(2)

(2)

(2)

(1)    

(2)
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Dividends

We have paid a regular quarterly cash dividend on our Class A common stock as approved by our board of directors since December 2019. Dividends
are not paid to our Class B common stock holders; however, a corresponding distribution up to the same amount per share as our Class A common stockholders
is paid to our CW Unit Holders (or, for any dividends declared after the completion of the CC Reorganization, to the CC Unit holders) for any dividends
declared on our Class A common stock. We have paid quarterly dividends uninterrupted since initiation of the cash dividend program and the approved
dividend per share amount has increased from the initial amount of $0.09 per share to $0.10 per share in September 2021 to the current amount of $0.11 per
share of Class A common stock. In fiscal year 2022, the annual dividend rate for our Class A common stock was $0.44 per share compared to $0.38 per share in
fiscal year 2021 and $0.36 per share in fiscal year 2020.

We currently intend to continue paying the quarterly dividend at the current levels while retaining the balance of future earnings, if any, to finance the
growth of our business. We would seek to increase the dividend in the future if our financial condition and results of operations permit. Our future dividend
policy is within the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon then-existing conditions, including our results of operations, financial condition,
capital requirements, investment opportunities, statutory and contractual restrictions on our ability to pay dividends and other factors our board of directors
may deem relevant.

Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total shareholder return on our common stock to the S&P 500 Index, the S&P Oil & Gas Equipment &
Services Index and the PHLX Oil Service Index from the date our common stock began trading through December 31, 2022. The total shareholder return
assumes $100 invested on February 7, 2018 in Cactus Inc., the S&P 500 Index, the S&P Oil & Gas Equipment & Services Index and the PHLX Oil Service
Index. It also assumes reinvestment of all dividends. The following graph and related information shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with
the SEC, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
except to the extent that Cactus Inc. specifically incorporates it by reference into such filing.  
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following sets forth information with respect to our repurchase of Class A common stock during the three months ended December 31, 2022 (in
whole shares).

Period
Total number of shares

purchased
Average price paid per

share
October 1-31, 2022 — $ — 
November 1-30, 2022 436 56.34 
December 1-31, 2022 871 49.34 
Total 1,307 $ 51.68 

    Consists of shares of Class A common stock repurchased from employees to satisfy tax withholding obligations related to restricted stock units that vested
during the period.

    Average price paid for Class A common stock purchased from employees to satisfy tax withholding obligations related to restricted stock units that vested
during the period.

Item 6.    (Reserved)

Item 7.    Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
consolidated financial statements and related notes. The following discussion contains “forward-looking statements” that reflect our plans, estimates, beliefs
and expected performance. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated as discussed in these forward-looking statements as a result of a
variety of risks and uncertainties, including those described in “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and “Item 1A. Risk Factors”
included elsewhere in this Annual Report, all of which are difficult to predict. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking events
discussed may not occur. We assume no obligation to update any of these forward-looking statements except as otherwise required by law.

This section includes comparisons of certain 2022 financial information to the same information for 2021. Year-to-year comparisons of the 2021
financial information to the same information for 2020 are contained in “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result of
Operations” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 28,
2022.

Unless specifically noted herein, the historical financial information included herein does not reflect the Merger or the CC Reorganization as they
were completed subsequent to December 31, 2022. The post-acquisition results of operations of FlexSteel will first be included in our consolidated financial
information for the period ending March 31, 2023.

Market Factors

See “Item 1. Business” for information on our products and business. Demand for our products and services depends primarily upon the general level
of activity in the oil and gas industry, including the number of active drilling rigs, the number of wells drilled, the depth and working pressure of these wells,
the number of well completions, the level of well remediation activity, the volume of production and the corresponding capital spending by oil and natural gas
companies. Oil and gas activity is in turn heavily influenced by, among other factors, investor sentiment, availability of capital and oil and gas prices locally
and worldwide, which have historically been volatile.

The key market factors impacting our product sales are the number of wells drilled and placed on production, as each well requires an individual
wellhead assembly and, at some time after completion, the installation of an associated production tree. We measure our product sales activity levels against
our competitors by the number of rigs that we are supporting on a monthly basis as it is correlated to wells drilled. Each active drilling rig produces different
levels of revenue based on the customer’s drilling program and efficiencies, which includes factors such as the number of wells drilled per pad, the timing of
rig moves, the time taken to drill each well, the number and size of casing strings, the working pressure, material selection and the complexity of the wellhead
system chosen by the customer and the rate at which production trees are eventually deployed. All of these factors may be influenced by the oil and gas region
in which our customers are operating. While these factors may lead to differing revenues per rig, we have generally been able to forecast our product needs and
anticipated revenue levels based on historic trends in a given region and with a specific customer. 

(1) (2)

(1)

(2)

24



Table of Contents

Our rental revenues are primarily dependent on the number of wells completed (i.e., hydraulically fractured), the number of wells on a well pad, the
number of fracture stages per well and the number of fracture stages completed per day. Well completion activity generally follows the level of drilling activity
over time but can be delayed or accelerated due to such factors as availability of drilling rigs, pressure pumping fleets and OCTG, takeaway capacity, storage
capacity, oil and gas prices, overall service cost inflation and budget considerations.

Field service and other revenues are closely correlated to revenues from product sales and rentals, as items sold or rented almost always have an
associated service component. Therefore, the market factors and trends of product sales and rental revenues similarly impact the associated levels of field
service and other revenues generated.

Our business experiences some seasonality during the fourth quarter due to holidays and customers managing their budgets as the year closes out. This
can lead to lower activity in our three revenue categories as well as lower margins, particularly in field services due to lower labor utilization.

Recent Developments and Trends

Acquisition of FlexSteel

On February 28, 2023, we completed the acquisition of FlexSteel, which designs, manufactures, sells and installs highly engineered spoolable pipe
technologies. FlexSteel’s steel reinforced pipeline solutions are sold principally for onshore oil and gas wells and are utilized during the production phases of
its customers’ wells. FlexSteel operates through service centers and pipe yards located throughout the United States and Canada, while also providing
equipment and services in select international markets. FlexSteel’s manufacturing facility is located in Baytown, Texas.

Commodity Prices and Geopolitical Conflict

Oil prices were volatile throughout 2022 primarily due to global import restrictions enacted on Russian oil, including a price cap set by the
International Group of Seven (G7) members in response to the conflict in Ukraine, releases of oil from the Strategic Petroleum Reserve and subsequent plans to
replenish it, enacted and planned production cuts by OPEC+, fears of a global recession and easing COVID-19 restrictions in China. Oil prices reached their
peak in March 2022 with West Texas Intermediate (“WTI”) prices increasing to over $123 per barrel. Prices dropped below $80 per barrel in late November
2022 and remained under $80 per barrel for the majority of December 2022 before ending the year at slightly above $80 per barrel. Oil prices dropped below
$80 several days in early 2023, but remained above $73 per barrel and averaged approximately $78 per barrel through February 24, 2023. In mid-February
2023, the International Energy Agency raised its forecast for global crude oil demand for 2023, raising the projection for 2023 to two million barrels per day
above 2022.

Prices for natural gas were elevated, but also volatile, throughout 2022 in the United States due to several factors including higher demand for heating
due to a colder winter early in the year, a nationwide heat wave during the summer and record-high liquified natural gas (“LNG”) exports due to a rise in global
LNG demand. Henry Hub natural gas spot prices increased from an average of $3.76 per one million British Thermal Units (“MMBtu”) in December 2021 to
an average high of $8.14 per MMBtu in May 2022 to an average of $5.53 per MMBtu in December 2022. Natural gas prices began to moderate toward the end
of 2022 primarily due to increased levels of domestic production, the shutdown of a large LNG export facility and relatively mild winter weather in Europe,
which have driven inventories in underground storage to levels in-line with the five-year average from levels below the five-year average. These impacts
continued into early 2023, with natural gas prices declining to an average of $3.27 per MMBtu for January 2023 down even further to $2.07 per MMBtu on
February 24, 2023. Although weakening natural gas prices could negatively impact the oil and gas industry, our customers are primarily oil-focused, thus
slightly moderating the adverse impacts to demand for our products and services.

The ongoing conflict in Ukraine has had repercussions globally and in the United States by continuing to cause uncertainty, not only in the oil and
natural gas markets, but also in the financial markets and global supply chain. Such uncertainty could continue to result in stock price volatility and supply
chain disruptions as well as higher oil and natural gas prices which could cause higher inflation worldwide, impact consumer spending and negatively impact
demand for our goods and services. Moreover, additional interest rate increases by the U.S. Federal Reserve to combat inflation could further increase the
probability of a recession.

Notwithstanding the significant commodity price volatility in 2022, U.S. onshore drilling activity increased meaningfully during the year. At the end
of 2022, the U.S. onshore rig count as reported by Baker Hughes was 762 rigs as compared to 570 at the end of 2021. The weekly average U.S. onshore rig
count for the three months ended December 31, 2022 was 757 rigs, a 39% increase as compared to 543 rigs for the comparable period in 2021. U.S. onshore
drilling activity has been
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relatively stable during the first part of 2023. As of February 24, 2023, the U.S. onshore rig count was 734, reflecting weakening natural gas prices in early
2023.

Inflation and Increased Costs

Supply chain disruptions, geopolitical issues, increased money supply and significantly increased demand for goods and services worldwide resulted
in substantial increases in the cost of fuel, raw materials, component parts, ocean freight charges and labor in 2022. Inflation, measured by the U.S. Consumer
Price Index (“CPI”) as reported by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, increased substantially during 2022, rising to an average of 8.0% on a year-over-year
basis in 2022 from an average of 4.7% on a year-over-year basis in 2021. While year-over-year inflation rates remained elevated relative to historical levels, the
rate of increases began to moderate late in 2022 and were reported at 6.5% in December 2022, the lowest that figure has been in more than a year. Salaries and
wages remain elevated as a result of competitive labor markets, especially in certain key oil and gas producing areas, but also due to broader inflation trends
and labor shortages. We expect we will continue to experience inflationary pressures on portions of our cost structure; however, tightness in overseas freight
and transit times from China have eased. Additionally, raw material and component costs are moderating due in part to improvements in the global supply and
demand dynamics for steel. Nonetheless, we cannot be confident that transit times or input prices will return or stabilize at the lower levels experienced in prior
years.

Consolidated Results of Operations

The following discussions relating to significant line items from our condensed consolidated statements of income are based on available information
and represent our analysis of significant changes or events that impact the comparability of reported amounts. Where appropriate, we have identified specific
events and changes that affect comparability or trends and, where reasonably practicable, have quantified the impact of such items.

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2021

The following table presents summary consolidated operating results for the periods indicated: 

  Year Ended    
  December 31,    
  2022 2021 $ Change % Change
  (in thousands)  
Revenues            

Product revenue $ 452,615  $ 280,907  $ 171,708  61.1 %
Rental revenue 100,453  61,629  38,824  63.0 
Field service and other revenue 135,301  96,053  39,248  40.9 
Total revenues 688,369  438,589  249,780  57.0 

Costs and expenses      
Cost of product revenue 277,871  189,083  88,788  47.0 
Cost of rental revenue 62,037  54,377  7,660  14.1 
Cost of field service and other revenue 106,013  73,681  32,332  43.9 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 67,700  46,021  21,679  47.1 
Total costs and expenses 513,621  363,162  150,459  41.4 

Income from operations 174,748  75,427  99,321  nm

Interest income (expense), net 3,714  (774) 4,488  nm
Other income (expense), net (1,910) 492  (2,402) nm

Income before income taxes 176,552  75,145  101,407  nm
Income tax expense 31,430  7,675  23,755  nm

Net income 145,122  67,470  77,652  nm
Less: net income attributable to non-controlling interest 34,948  17,877  17,071  95.5 

Net income attributable to Cactus Inc. $ 110,174  $ 49,593  $ 60,581  nm
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nm = not meaningful 

Revenues

Product revenue for 2022 was $452.6 million compared to $280.9 million for 2021. The increase of $171.7 million, representing a 61% increase from
2021, was primarily due to higher sales of wellhead and production related equipment resulting from increased activity by our customers as well as the impact
of cost recovery efforts.

Rental revenue of $100.5 million in 2022 increased $38.8 million, or 63%, from $61.6 million in 2021. The increase was primarily attributable to
higher drilling and completion activity by our customers and associated repairs.

Field service and other revenue for 2022 was $135.3 million, an increase of $39.2 million, or 41%, from $96.1 million for 2021. The increase was
attributable to increased customer activity, resulting in higher billable hours and ancillary services as well as cost recovery measures.

Costs and expenses

Cost of product revenue of $277.9 million in 2022 increased $88.8 million, or 47%, from $189.1 million in 2021. The increase was largely attributable
to an increase in product sales and increased costs associated with materials, freight and overhead.

Cost of rental revenue for 2022 was $62.0 million, an increase of $7.7 million, or 14%, from $54.4 million for 2021. The increase was primarily due to
higher repair and equipment reactivation costs, scrap expense, freight costs and increased personnel, ancillary and branch expenses, partially offset by lower
depreciation expense on our rental fleet.

Cost of field service and other revenue for 2022 was $106.0 million, an increase of $32.3 million, or 44%, from $73.7 million for 2021. The increase
was mainly related to higher personnel costs resulting from an increase in the number of field and branch personnel and higher wages as well as higher fuel and
third-party service costs associated with increased field service activity levels.

Selling, general and administrative expense (“SG&A”) for 2022 was $67.7 million, an increase of $21.7 million, or 47%, from $46.0 million for 2021.
The increase was largely attributable to increased personnel costs primarily related to higher salaries and wages and their associated payroll taxes, increased
benefits including health insurance and retirement funding, higher stock-based compensation and annual incentive bonus expense. Additionally, professional
fees increased from 2021 primarily due to approximately $8.4 million of transaction costs associated with the Merger. Additional increases in SG&A from 2021
were attributable to higher information technology expenses and increased travel costs.

Interest income (expense), net. Interest income, net was $3.7 million in 2022 compared to interest expense, net of $0.8 million in 2021. The increase in
interest income, net of $4.5 million was primarily due to higher interest income earned on cash invested resulting from increased interest rates in 2022.

Other income (expense), net. Other expense, net of $1.9 million in 2022 represented a non-cash adjustment for the revaluation of the liability related to
the tax receivable agreement. Other income, net of $0.5 million in 2021 related to a $0.9 million non-cash gain associated with the revaluation of the liability
related to the TRA and $0.4 million for professional fees and other expenses associated with the 2021 Secondary Offering.

Income tax expense. Income tax expense for 2022 was $31.4 million (17.8% effective tax rate) compared to $7.7 million (10.2% effective tax rate) for
2021. Income tax expense for 2022 primarily included approximately $36.4 million of expense associated with current income offset by a $1.7 million benefit
associated with permanent differences related to equity compensation, a $1.7 million benefit resulting from a change in our forecasted state rate and a $1.4
million tax benefit associated with the partial valuation allowance release in conjunction with CW Unit redemptions during the year. Partial valuation releases
occur in conjunction with redemptions of CW Units as a portion of Cactus Inc.’s deferred tax assets from its investment in Cactus LLC becomes realizable.
Income tax expense for 2021 was primarily related to approximately $16.3 million expense associated with our 2021 operations and $1.3 million expense
resulting from a change in our forecasted state tax rate. This tax expense was partially offset by a $1.1 million benefit associated with permanent differences
related to equity compensation and a $9.0 million tax benefit associated with the partial valuation allowance release in conjunction with 2021 redemptions of
CW Units.
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Our effective tax rate is typically lower than the federal statutory rate of 21% due to the fact that Cactus Inc. is only subject to federal and state income
tax on its share of income from Cactus LLC. Income allocated to the non-controlling interest is not subject to U.S. federal or state tax.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2022, we had $344.5 million of cash and cash equivalents. Our primary sources of liquidity and capital resources are cash on hand,
cash flows generated by operating activities and, if necessary, borrowings under our ABL Credit Facility (as defined in Note 4 in the notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements). Depending upon market conditions and other factors, we may also have the ability to issue additional equity and debt if needed. As of
December 31, 2022, we had no borrowings outstanding under our ABL Credit Facility and $79.9 million of available borrowing capacity. We had $0.1 million
in letters of credit outstanding at December 31, 2022 which reduced our available borrowing capacity. We were in compliance with the covenants of the ABL
Credit Facility as of December 31, 2022.

We expect that our existing cash on hand, cash generated from operations and available borrowings under our ABL Credit Facility will be sufficient
for the next 12 months to meet working capital requirements, anticipated capital expenditures, expected TRA liability payments, anticipated tax liabilities and
dividends to holders of our Class A common stock as well as pro rata cash distributions to holders of CW Units (or, in the case of dividends declared after the
completion of the CC Reorganization, to the holders of CC Units), other than Cactus Inc.

In connection with the signing of the Merger Agreement in December 2022, we obtained fully committed bridge financing that could be used to fund a
portion of the upfront purchase price of $621.2 million for the Merger (excluding working capital adjustments). On January 13, 2023, we completed an
underwritten offering of 3,224,300 shares of Class A common stock for net proceeds of $165.6 million and used the net proceeds to finance a portion of the
Merger in lieu of utilizing the bridge facility. On February 28, 2023, in connection with the Merger, we replaced the remainder of the bridge facility
commitment with the Amended ABL Credit Facility, which includes a term loan facility and a revolving facility, with a syndicate of lenders and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent for such lenders and as an issuing bank. For a description of the ABL Credit Facility and the Amended ABL Credit
Facility, please see Note 4 and Note 15, respectively, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Not including the impact of the acquisition of FlexSteel, we currently estimate our net capital expenditures for the year ending December 31, 2023
will range from $35 million to $45 million, mostly related to rental fleet investments including drilling tools but also related to the potential purchase of a
currently leased facility, international expansion and development of a newly-leased research and development facility in Houston, Texas. We continuously
evaluate our capital expenditures, and the amount we ultimately spend will depend on a number of factors, including, among other things, demand for rental
assets, available capacity in existing locations, prevailing economic conditions, market conditions in the E&P industry, customers’ forecasts, volatility and
company initiatives.

Our ability to satisfy our long-term liquidity requirements, including cash distributions to CC Unit Holders to fund their respective income tax
liabilities relating to their share of the income of Cactus Companies and to fund liabilities related to the TRA, depends on our future operating performance,
which is affected by, and subject to, prevailing economic conditions, market conditions in the E&P industry, availability and cost of raw materials, and
financial, business and other factors, many of which are beyond our control. We will not be able to predict or control many of these factors, such as economic
conditions in the markets where we operate and competitive pressures. If necessary, we could choose to further reduce our spending on capital projects and
operating expenses to ensure we operate within the cash flow generated from our operations.

Tax Receivable Agreement (TRA)

The TRA generally provides for the payment by Cactus Inc. to the TRA Holders of 85% of the net cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state and local
income tax and franchise tax that Cactus Inc. actually realizes or is deemed to realize in certain circumstances. Cactus Inc. retains the benefit of the remaining
15% of these net cash savings. To the extent Cactus Companies has available cash, we intend to cause Cactus Companies to make pro rata distributions to its
unit holders, including Cactus Inc., in an amount at least sufficient to allow us to pay our taxes and to make payments under the TRA.

Except in cases where we elect to terminate the TRA early, the TRA is terminated early due to certain mergers, asset sales, or other forms of business
combinations or changes of control relating to Cactus Companies or if we have available cash but fail to make payments when due under circumstances where
we do not have the right to elect to defer the payment. We may generally elect to defer payments due under the TRA if we do not have available cash to satisfy
our payment obligations under the TRA. Any such deferred payments under the TRA generally will accrue interest. In certain cases, payments under the TRA
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may be accelerated and/or significantly exceed the actual benefits, if any, we realize in respect of the tax attributes subject to the TRA. In these situations, our
obligations under the TRA could have a substantial negative impact on our liquidity.

Assuming no material changes in the relevant tax law, we expect that if the TRA were terminated as of December 31, 2022, the estimated termination
payments, based on the assumptions discussed in Note 9 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, would be approximately $291.2 million,
calculated using a discount rate equal to one-year LIBOR plus 150 basis points, applied against an undiscounted liability of $456.6 million. A 10% increase in
the price of our Class A common stock at December 31, 2022 would have increased the discounted liability by $10.8 million to $302.0 million (an
undiscounted increase of $18.3 million to $474.9 million), and likewise, a 10% decrease in the price of our Class A common stock at December 31, 2022 would
have decreased the discounted liability by $10.8 million to $280.4 million (an undiscounted decrease of $18.3 million to $438.3 million).

Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2021

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated: 

  Year Ended December 31,
  2022 2021
  (in thousands)

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 117,884  $ 63,759 
Net cash used in investing activities (25,536) (11,633)
Net cash used in financing activities (47,382) (39,388)

 
Net cash provided by operating activities was $117.9 million in 2022 compared to $63.8 million in 2021. Operating cash flows increased primarily

due to an increase in income offset by an increase in working capital, largely related to the increase in inventory and increased accounts receivable associated
with higher revenues, a $2.0 million increase in TRA payments and a $1.0 million increase in taxes paid, net of refunds.

Net cash used in investing activities was $25.5 million and $11.6 million for 2022 and 2021, respectively. The increase was primarily due to increased
investments associated with our rental fleet and additional investment in and expansion of our Bossier City location. 

Net cash used in financing activities was $47.4 million and $39.4 million for 2022 and 2021, respectively. The increase was primarily comprised of a
$5.6 million increase in dividend payments, a $1.3 million increase in share repurchases from employees to satisfy tax withholding obligations related to
restricted stock units that vested during the period, a $0.9 million increase in payments on finance leases and $0.4 million in deferred financing costs.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

In preparing our financial statements in accordance with generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”), we make numerous estimates
and assumptions that affect the accounting for and recognition and disclosure of assets, liabilities, equity, revenues and expenses. We must make these
estimates and assumptions because certain information that we use is dependent on future events, cannot be calculated with a high degree of precision from
available data or is not otherwise capable of being readily calculated based on generally accepted methodologies. In some cases, these estimates are particularly
difficult to determine, and we must exercise significant judgment. Actual results could differ materially from the estimates and assumptions that we use in the
preparation of our financial statements. We identify certain accounting policies as critical based on, among other things, their impact on the portrayal of our
financial condition and results of operations and the degree of difficulty, subjectivity and complexity in their deployment. Note 2 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements includes a summary of the significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the accompanying consolidated
financial statements. The following is a brief discussion of our most critical accounting policies and related estimates and assumptions.
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined using standard cost (which approximates average cost). Costs
include an application of related direct labor and overhead cost. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal and transportation. We evaluate the components of inventory on a regular basis for excess and
obsolescence. Reserves are made based on a range of factors, including age, usage and technological or market changes that may impact demand for those
products. The amount of reserve recorded is subjective and is susceptible to change from period to period.

Long‑Lived Assets

Key estimates related to long‑lived assets include useful lives and recoverability of carrying values. Such estimates could be modified, as impairment
could arise as a result of changes in supply and demand fundamentals, technological developments, new competitors with cost advantages and the cyclical
nature of the oil and gas industry. We evaluate long‑lived assets for potential impairment indicators whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Long‑lived assets assessed for impairment are grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash
flows are available, and a provision made where the cash flow is less than the carrying value of the asset. The estimation of future cash flows and fair value is
highly subjective and inherently imprecise. Estimates can change materially from period to period based on many factors. Accordingly, if conditions change in
the future, we may record impairment losses, which could be material to any particular reporting period.

Income Taxes

Deferred taxes are recorded using the asset and liability method, whereby tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the
financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax laws and rates expected to apply to taxable income in the year in which the
differences are expected to reverse. We assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered through adjustments to future taxable income. To the
extent we believe recovery is not likely, we establish a valuation allowance to reduce the asset to a value we believe will be recoverable based on our
expectation of future taxable income. In evaluating our ability to recover our deferred tax assets, we consider all available positive and negative evidence,
including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies and results of recent operations. The
assumptions about future taxable income require significant judgment and are consistent with the plans and estimates management is using to manage the
underlying business. If the projected future taxable income changes materially, we may be required to reassess the amount of valuation allowance recorded
against our deferred tax assets.

Tax Receivable Agreement

The TRA generally provides for the payment by Cactus Inc. to the TRA Holders of 85% of the net cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state and local
income tax and franchise tax that Cactus Inc. actually realizes or is deemed to realize in certain circumstances as a result of (i) certain increases in tax basis that
occur as a result of Cactus Inc.’s acquisition (or deemed acquisition for U.S. federal income tax purposes) of all or a portion of such TRA Holder’s CW Units in
connection with our IPO or any subsequent offering (or, following the completion of the CC Reorganization, such TRA Holder’s CC Units), or pursuant to any
other exercise of the Redemption Right or the Call Right, (ii) certain increases in tax basis resulting from the repayment of borrowings outstanding under
Cactus LLC’s term loan facility in connection with our IPO and (iii) imputed interest deemed to be paid by Cactus Inc. as a result of, and additional tax basis
arising from, any payments Cactus Inc. makes under the TRA. We retain the remaining 15% of the cash savings. The TRA liability is calculated by determining
the tax basis subject to TRA (“tax basis”) and applying a blended tax rate to the basis differences and calculating the iterative impact. The blended tax rate
consists of the U.S. federal income tax rate and an assumed combined state and local income tax rate driven by the apportionment factors applicable to each
state.

Redemptions of CW Units resulted in adjustments to the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of Cactus LLC. These adjustments were
allocated to Cactus Inc. Such adjustments to the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of Cactus LLC would not have been available to Cactus Inc.
absent its acquisition or deemed acquisition of CW Units. In addition, the repayment of borrowings outstanding under the Cactus LLC term loan facility
resulted in adjustments to the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of Cactus LLC, a portion of which was allocated to Cactus Inc. These basis
adjustments are expected to increase (for tax purposes) Cactus Inc.’s depreciation and amortization deductions and may also decrease Cactus Inc.’s gains (or
increase its losses) on future dispositions of certain assets to the extent tax basis is allocated to those assets. Such increased deductions and losses and reduced
gains may reduce the amount of tax that Cactus Inc. would otherwise be required to pay in the future. 
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Estimating the amount and timing of the tax benefit is by its nature imprecise and the assumptions used in the estimates can change. The tax benefit is
dependent upon future events and assumptions, the amount of the redeeming unit holders’ tax basis in its CC Units (formerly CW Units) at the time of the
relevant redemption, the depreciation and amortization periods that apply to the increase in tax basis, the amount and timing of taxable income we generate in
the future and the U.S. federal, state and local income tax rate then applicable, and the portion of Cactus Inc.’s payments under the TRA that constitute imputed
interest or give rise to depreciable or amortizable tax basis. The most critical estimate included in calculating the TRA liability to record is the combined U.S.
federal income tax rate and an assumed combined state and local income tax rate, to determine the future benefit we will realize. A 100 basis point
decrease/increase in the blended tax rate used would decrease/increase the TRA liability recorded at December 31, 2022 by approximately $14.2 million. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

There were no new accounting standards adopted in 2022 and there are no new accounting pronouncements issued but not yet effective that are
expected to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Inflation

While inflationary cost increases can affect our income from operations’ margin, we believe that inflation generally has not had, and is not expected to
have, a material adverse effect on our results of operations. In 2022, the United States experienced the highest inflation in decades primarily due to supply-
chain issues, a shortage of labor and a build-up of demand for goods and services. The most noticeable adverse impact to our business was increased costs
associated with freight, materials, vehicle-related costs and personnel expenses. While we have seen some of these costs begin to moderate, we are unsure how
long an elevated rate will continue. Additionally, we cannot be confident that costs will return to the lower levels experienced in prior years.

Item 7A.   Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to market risk from changes in foreign currency exchange rates and changes in interest rates. 

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk 

We have subsidiaries with operations in China and Australia who conduct business in their local currencies (functional currencies) and are therefore
subject to foreign currency exchange rate risk on cash flows related to sales, expenses, financing and investing transactions in currencies other than the U.S.
dollar. Currently, we do not have any open foreign currency forward contracts to hedge this risk.

Additionally, certain intercompany balances between our U.S. and foreign subsidiaries as well as other financial assets and liabilities are denominated
in U.S. dollars. Since this is not the functional currency of our subsidiaries in China and Australia, the changes in these balances are translated in our
Consolidated Statements of Income, resulting in the recognition of a remeasurement gain or loss. In order to provide a hedge against currency fluctuations on
the U.S. dollar denominated assets and liabilities held by our foreign subsidiaries, we enter into monthly foreign currency forward contracts (balance sheet
hedges) to offset a portion of the remeasurement gain or loss recorded. As of December 31, 2022, if the U.S. dollar strengthened or weakened 5%, the impact to
the unrealized value of our forward contracts would be approximately $0.5 million. The gain or loss on the forward contracts would be largely offset by the
gain or loss on the underlying transactions, and therefore, would have minimal impact on future earnings.

Interest Rate Risk

Our Amended ABL Credit Facility is variable rate debt. At December 31, 2022, although there were no borrowings outstanding, the applicable margin
on Term Benchmark borrowings was 1.25% plus the base rate of one, three or six month SOFR plus 0.10%, subject to a floor rate of 0%.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Our internal control over financial reporting was designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In making its assessment, management has utilized the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(or “COSO”) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013 framework). Based on this assessment, management has concluded that, as of December 31,
2022, our internal control over financial reporting was effective.

Our independent registered public accounting firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP, has issued an audit report on the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, which appears herein.

/s/ Scott Bender   /s/ Stephen Tadlock
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director   Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Houston, Texas
March 1, 2023
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Cactus, Inc.

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cactus, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and
the related consolidated statements of income, of comprehensive income, of stockholders’ equity and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2022, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company's
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over
financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. 

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control
over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated
or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements
and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our
opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate
opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates. 

Liability related to the Tax Receivable Agreement 

As described in Notes 2 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has a liability under the Tax Receivable Agreement (“TRA”) of $292.6
million as of December 31, 2022. In connection with its initial public offering, the Company entered into the TRA with certain direct and indirect owners of
Cactus Wellhead, LLC (the “TRA Holders”). The TRA generally provides for the payment by the Company to the TRA Holders of 85% of the net cash tax
savings, if any, in United States federal, state and local income tax and franchise tax that the Company actually realizes or is deemed to realize in certain
circumstances as a result of (i) certain increases in tax basis that occur as a result of the Company’s acquisition (or deemed acquisition for U.S. federal income
tax purposes) of all or a portion of such TRA Holder’s ownership interest in Cactus Wellhead, LLC, (ii) certain increases in tax basis resulting from the
repayment of borrowings outstanding under Cactus Wellhead, LLC’s term loan facility, and (iii) imputed interest deemed to be paid by the Company as a result
of, and additional tax basis arising from, any payments the Company makes under the TRA. Management calculates the TRA liability by determining the tax
basis subject to the TRA (“tax basis”) and applying a blended tax rate to the basis differences and calculating the iterative impact. The blended tax rate consists
of the U.S. federal income tax rate and an assumed combined state and local income tax rate driven by the apportionment factors applicable to each state.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the liability related to the TRA is a critical audit matter are the
significant complexity in i) management’s calculation of the tax basis, and (ii) developing the applicable state apportionment factors utilized in determining the
appropriate blended tax rate. This in turn led to a high degree of auditor subjectivity and effort in performing procedures and evaluating the appropriateness of
the calculation of the tax basis and the blended tax rate. In addition, the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge to
assist in performing these procedures and evaluating the audit evidence obtained from these procedures. 

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the calculation and recognition of the TRA liability, including
controls over the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data used in the tax basis and blended tax rate calculations. These procedures also included,
among others, testing the information used in the calculation of the TRA liability, and the involvement of professionals with specialized skills and knowledge to
assist in (i) developing an independent calculation of the tax basis, (ii) comparing the independent calculation to management’s calculations to evaluate the
reasonableness of the tax basis, (iii) evaluating the apportionment factors and the resulting blended tax rate, and (iv) assessing management’s application of the
tax laws. Evaluating management’s determination of the apportionment factors involved considering the current and expected activity levels of the Company
and whether the apportionment factors were consistent with evidence obtained in other areas of the audit. 

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Houston, Texas
March 1, 2023

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2015, which includes periods before the Company became subject to SEC reporting requirements.
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CACTUS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

  December 31,
  2022 2021
  (in thousands, except per share data)

Assets    
Current assets      

Cash and cash equivalents $ 344,527  $ 301,669 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $1,060 and $741, respectively 138,268  89,205 
Inventories 161,283  119,817 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 10,564  7,794 
Total current assets 654,642  518,485 

Property and equipment, net 129,998  129,117 
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net 23,183  22,538 
Goodwill 7,824  7,824 
Deferred tax asset, net 301,644  303,074 
Other noncurrent assets 1,605  1,040 

Total assets $ 1,118,896  $ 982,078 
Liabilities and Equity    
Current liabilities    

Accounts payable $ 47,776  $ 42,818 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 30,619  28,240 
Current portion of liability related to tax receivable agreement 27,544  11,769 
Finance lease obligations, current portion 5,933  4,867 
Operating lease liabilities, current portion 4,777  4,880 
Total current liabilities 116,649  92,574 

Deferred tax liability, net 1,966  1,172 
Liability related to tax receivable agreement, net of current portion 265,025  269,838 
Finance lease obligations, net of current portion 6,436  5,811 
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion 18,375  17,650 

Total liabilities 408,451  387,045 
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity    

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 10,000 shares authorized, none issued and outstanding —  — 
Class A common stock, $0.01 par value, 300,000 shares authorized, 60,903 and 59,035 shares issued and outstanding 609  590 
Class B common stock, $0.01 par value, 215,000 shares authorized, 14,978 and 16,674 shares issued and outstanding —  — 
Additional paid-in capital 310,528  289,600 
Retained earnings 261,764  178,446 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (984) 8 
Total stockholders’ equity attributable to Cactus Inc. 571,917  468,644 

Non-controlling interest 138,528  126,389 
Total stockholders’ equity 710,445  595,033 
Total liabilities and equity $ 1,118,896  $ 982,078 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CACTUS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

  Year Ended December 31,
  2022 2021 2020
  (in thousands, except per share data)

Revenues      
Product revenue $ 452,615  $ 280,907  $ 206,801 
Rental revenue 100,453  61,629  66,169 
Field service and other revenue 135,301  96,053  75,596 
Total revenues 688,369  438,589  348,566 

Costs and expenses      
Cost of product revenue 277,871  189,083  131,728 
Cost of rental revenue 62,037  54,377  49,077 
Cost of field service and other revenue 106,013  73,681  56,143 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 67,700  46,021  39,715 
Severance expenses —  —  1,864 
Total costs and expenses 513,621  363,162  278,527 

Income from operations 174,748  75,427  70,039 

Interest income (expense), net 3,714  (774) 701 
Other income (expense), net (1,910) 492  (555)

Income before income taxes 176,552  75,145  70,185 
Income tax expense 31,430  7,675  10,970 

Net income $ 145,122  $ 67,470  $ 59,215 
Less: net income attributable to non-controlling interest 34,948  17,877  24,769 
Net income attributable to Cactus Inc. $ 110,174  $ 49,593  $ 34,446 

Earnings per Class A share - basic $ 1.83  $ 0.90  $ 0.73 

Earnings per Class A share - diluted $ 1.80  $ 0.83  $ 0.72 

Weighted average Class A shares outstanding - basic 60,323  55,398  47,457 
Weighted average Class A shares outstanding - diluted 76,337  76,107  75,495 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CACTUS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

  Year Ended December 31, 
  2022 2021 2020
  (in thousands)
Net income $ 145,122  $ 67,470  $ 59,215 

Foreign currency translation adjustments (1,308) (567) 1,375 
Comprehensive income 143,814  66,903  60,590 
Less: comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interest 34,632  17,632  25,362 
Comprehensive income attributable to Cactus Inc. $ 109,182  $ 49,271  $ 35,228 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CACTUS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Class A
Common Stock

Class B
Common Stock Additional

Paid-In Capital
Retained
Earnings

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Non-
controlling

Interest Total Equity(in thousands) Shares Amount Shares Amount
Balance at December 31, 2019 47,159  $ 472  27,958  $ —  $ 194,456  $ 132,990  $ (452) $ 188,929  $ 516,395 
Member distributions —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (16,304) (16,304)
Effect of CW Unit redemptions 303  3  (303) —  2,155  —  —  (2,158) — 
Tax impact of equity transactions —  —  —  —  284  —  —  —  284 
Equity award vestings 251  2  —  —  (238) —  —  (1,208) (1,444)
Other comprehensive income —  —  —  —  —  —  782  593  1,375 
Stock-based compensation —  —  —  —  5,420  —  —  3,179  8,599 
Cash dividends declared ($0.36 per share) —  —  —  (17,350) —  —  (17,350)
Net income —  —  —  —  —  34,446  —  24,769  59,215 

Balance at December 31, 2020 47,713  $ 477  27,655  $ —  $ 202,077  $ 150,086  $ 330  $ 197,800  $ 550,770 

Member distributions —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (9,742) (9,742)
Effect of CW Unit redemptions 10,981  110  (10,981) —  79,276  —  —  (79,386) — 
Tax impact of equity transactions —  —  —  —  2,998  —  —  —  2,998 
Equity award vestings 341  3  —  —  (1,141) —  —  (2,145) (3,283)
Other comprehensive loss —  —  —  —  —  —  (322) (245) (567)
Stock-based compensation —  —  —  —  6,390  —  —  2,230  8,620 
Cash dividends declared ($0.38 per share) —  —  —  (21,233) —  —  (21,233)
Net income —  —  —  —  —  49,593  —  17,877  67,470 

Balance at December 31, 2021 59,035  $ 590  16,674  $ —  $ 289,600  $ 178,446  $ 8  $ 126,389  $ 595,033 

Member distributions —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (9,692) (9,692)
Effect of CW Unit redemptions 1,696  17  (1,696) —  13,690  —  —  (13,707) — 
Tax impact of equity transactions —  —  —  —  2,076  —  —  —  2,076 
Equity award vestings 172  2  —  —  (3,306) —  —  (1,257) (4,561)
Other comprehensive loss —  —  —  —  —  —  (992) (316) (1,308)
Stock-based compensation —  —  —  —  8,468  —  —  2,163  10,631 
Cash dividends declared ($0.44 per share) —  —  —  (26,856) —  —  (26,856)
Net income —  —  —  —  —  110,174  —  34,948  145,122 

Balance at December 31, 2022 60,903  $ 609  14,978  $ —  $ 310,528  $ 261,764  $ (984) $ 138,528  $ 710,445 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CACTUS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

  Year Ended December 31,
  2022 2021 2020

  (in thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities      
Net income $ 145,122  $ 67,470  $ 59,215 
Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities:      

Depreciation and amortization 34,124  36,308  40,520 
Deferred financing cost amortization 165  168  168 
Stock-based compensation 10,631  8,620  8,599 
Provision for expected credit losses 406  310  342 
Inventory obsolescence 2,739  3,490  4,840 
Gain on disposal of assets (1,391) (1,386) (2,480)
Deferred income taxes 25,299  4,829  6,948 
(Gain) loss from revaluation of liability related to tax receivable agreement 1,910  (898) 555 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (49,349) (45,492) 44,829 
Inventories (44,891) (36,083) 18,201 
Prepaid expenses and other assets (3,108) (2,789) 6,177 
Accounts payable 5,803  22,281  (19,434)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 2,090  16,628  (10,893)
Payments pursuant to tax receivable agreement (11,666) (9,697) (14,207)

Net cash provided by operating activities 117,884  63,759  143,380 

Cash flows from investing activities      
Capital expenditures and other (28,291) (13,939) (24,493)
Proceeds from sale of assets 2,755  2,306  6,346 

Net cash used in investing activities (25,536) (11,633) (18,147)

Cash flows from financing activities      
Payment of deferred financing costs (353) —  — 
Payments on finance leases (6,055) (5,205) (5,317)
Dividends paid to Class A common stock shareholders (26,719) (21,158) (17,140)
Distributions to members (9,692) (9,742) (16,304)
Repurchases of shares (4,563) (3,283) (1,445)

Net cash used in financing activities (47,382) (39,388) (40,206)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (2,108) 272  1,029 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 42,858  13,010  86,056 

Cash and cash equivalents      
Beginning of period 301,669  288,659  202,603 
End of period $ 344,527  $ 301,669  $ 288,659 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CACTUS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in thousands, except share and per share data, or as otherwise indicated)

1. Organization and Nature of Operations

Cactus, Inc. (“Cactus Inc.”) and its consolidated subsidiaries (the “Company”), including Cactus Wellhead, LLC (“Cactus LLC”), are primarily
engaged in the design, manufacture and sale of wellhead and pressure control equipment. In addition, we maintain a fleet of frac valves and ancillary
equipment for short-term rental, offer repair and refurbishment services and provide field service crews to assist in the installation and operations of pressure
control systems. We operate through U.S. service centers located in Texas, New Mexico, Pennsylvania, North Dakota, Louisiana, Oklahoma, Colorado,
Wyoming and Utah as well as in Eastern Australia. We also provide rental and service operations in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Our manufacturing and
production facilities are located in Bossier City, Louisiana and Suzhou, China and our corporate headquarters are located in Houston, Texas.

Cactus Inc. was incorporated on February 17, 2017 as a Delaware corporation for the purpose of completing an initial public offering of equity and
related transactions, which was completed on February 12, 2018 (our “IPO”). Cactus Inc. is a holding company whose only material asset is an equity interest
consisting of units representing limited liability company interests in Cactus LLC (“CW Units”). Cactus Inc. became the sole managing member of Cactus LLC
upon completion of our IPO and is responsible for all operational, management and administrative decisions relating to Cactus LLC’s business. Pursuant to the
Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement of Cactus LLC (the “Cactus Wellhead LLC Agreement”), owners of CW
Units are entitled to redeem their CW Units for shares of Cactus Inc.’s Class A common stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Class A common stock”) on a one-
for-one basis, which results in a corresponding increase in Cactus Inc.’s membership interest in Cactus LLC and an increase in the number of shares of Class A
common stock outstanding. We refer to the owners of CW Units, other than Cactus Inc. (along with their permitted transferees), as “CW Unit Holders.” CW
Unit Holders own one share of our Class B common stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Class B common stock”) for each CW Unit such CW Unit Holder owns.
Cactus LLC is a Delaware limited liability company and was formed on July 11, 2011. Except as otherwise indicated or required by the context, all references
to “Cactus,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Cactus Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (including Cactus LLC).

On February 28, 2023, we completed the acquisition of FlexSteel Holdings, LLC (“FlexSteel”), a leading manufacturer and provider of differentiated
onshore spoolable pipe technologies and associated installation services. The historical consolidated financial statements and related notes included herein do
not reflect the acquisition as it was completed subsequent to December 31, 2022. The post-acquisition results of operations of FlexSteel will first be included in
our consolidated results for the period ending March 31, 2023. See further discussion of the acquisition in Note 15. “Subsequent Events”.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Other Items

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP”). These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Cactus Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and
balances have been eliminated upon consolidation.

As the sole managing member of Cactus LLC, Cactus Inc. operates and controls all of the business and affairs of Cactus LLC and conducts its
business through Cactus LLC and its subsidiaries. As a result, Cactus Inc. consolidates the financial results of Cactus LLC and its subsidiaries and reports a
non-controlling interest related to the portion of CW Units not owned by Cactus Inc., which reduces net income attributable to holders of Cactus Inc.’s Class A
common stock.

Use of Estimates

In preparing our consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP, we make numerous estimates and assumptions that affect the accounting
for and recognition and disclosure of assets, liabilities, equity, revenues and expenses. We must make these estimates and assumptions because certain
information that we use is dependent on future events, cannot be calculated with a high degree of precision from available data or is not otherwise capable of
being readily calculated based on accepted methodologies. In some cases, these estimates are particularly difficult to determine, and we must exercise
significant judgment. Actual results could differ materially from the estimates and assumptions that we use in the preparation of our consolidated financial
statements. 
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Segment Information

We operate in a single operating segment, which reflects how we manage our business and the fact that all of our products and services are dependent
upon the oil and natural gas industry. Substantially all of our products and services are sold in the U.S. to oil and natural gas exploration and production
companies. We operate in the United States, Australia, China and the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Our operations outside of the United States represented less
than 10% of our consolidated operations for all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Our assets that are potentially subject to concentrations of credit risk are cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable. We manage the credit risk
associated with these financial instruments by transacting only with what management believes are financially secure counterparties, requiring credit approvals
and credit limits and monitoring counterparties’ financial condition. Our receivables are spread over a number of customers, a majority of which are oil and
natural gas exploration and production (“E&P”) companies representing private operators, publicly-traded independents, majors and other companies with
operations in the key U.S. oil and gas producing basins as well as Australia and the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Our maximum exposure to credit loss in the
event of non‑performance by the customer is limited to the receivable balance. We perform ongoing credit evaluations and monitoring as to the financial
condition of our customers with respect to trade receivables. Generally, no collateral is required as a condition of sale. We also control our exposure associated
with trade receivables by discontinuing sales and service to non-paying customers. For the year ended December 31, 2022, we had no customers representing
more than 10% of total revenues. For the year ended December 31, 2021, one customer represented approximately 12% of total revenues. No customer
represented 10% or more of total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Significant Vendors

The principal raw materials used in the manufacture of our products and rental equipment include forgings, castings, tube and bar stock. In addition,
we require accessory items (such as elastomers, ring gaskets, studs and nuts) and machined components and assemblies. We purchase a majority of these items
from vendors primarily located in the United States, China, India and Australia. For each of the three years ended December 31, 2022, no vendor represented
more than 10% of our total third-party vendor purchases of raw materials, finished products, equipment, machining and other services.

Tax Receivable Agreement (TRA)

We account for amounts payable under the TRA in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 450, Contingencies. As such,
subsequent changes to the measurement of the TRA liability are recognized in the statements of income as a component of other income (expense), net. During
the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, we recognized a $1.9 million loss, a $0.9 million gain and a $0.6 million loss on the change in the TRA
liability, respectively. See Note 9 for further details on the TRA liability.

Revenue Recognition

The majority of our revenues are derived from short-term contracts for fixed consideration or in the case of frac equipment rentals, for a fixed charge
per day while the equipment is in use by the customer. Product sales generally do not include right of return or other significant post-delivery obligations. A
contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied.
Revenues are recognized when we satisfy a performance obligation by transferring control of the promised goods or providing services to our customers at a
point in time, in an amount specified in the contract with our customer and that reflects the consideration to which we expect to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services. The majority of our contracts with customers contain a single performance obligation to provide agreed upon products or services. For
contracts with multiple performance obligations, we allocate revenue to each performance obligation based on its relative standalone selling price. We do not
assess whether promised goods or services are performance obligations if they are immaterial in the context of the contract with the customer. We do not incur
any material costs of obtaining contracts.

We do not adjust the amount of consideration per the contract for the effects of a significant financing component when we expect, at contract
inception, that the period between the transfer of a promised good or service to a customer and when the customer pays for that good or service will be one year
or less, which is in substantially all cases. Payment terms and conditions vary, although terms generally include a requirement of payment within 30 to 45 days.
Revenues are recognized net of any taxes collected from customers, which are subsequently remitted to governmental authorities. We treat shipping and
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handling associated with outbound freight as a fulfillment cost instead of as a separate performance obligation. We recognize the cost for the associated
shipping and handling when incurred as an expense in cost of sales. Our revenues are derived from three sources: products, rentals, and field service and other:

Product revenue. Product revenues are primarily derived from the sale of wellhead systems and production trees. Revenue is recognized when the
products have shipped and the customer obtains control of the products.   

Rental revenue. Rental revenues are primarily derived from the rental of equipment, tools and products used for well control during the drilling and
completion phases to customers. Our rental agreements are directly with our customers and provide for a rate based on the period of time the
equipment is used or made available to the customer. In addition, customers are charged for repair costs, typically through an agreed upon rate for
each rental job. Revenue is recognized ratably over the rental period, which tends to be short-term in nature with most equipment on site for less than
90 days. 

Field service and other revenue. We provide field services to our customers based on contractually agreed rates. Other revenues are derived from
providing repair and reconditioning services to customers who have installed wellheads and production trees on their wellsite. Revenues are
recognized as the services are performed or rendered. 

Foreign Currency Translation

The financial position and results of operations of our foreign subsidiaries are measured using the local currency as the functional currency. Revenues
and expenses of the subsidiaries have been translated into U.S. dollars at average exchange rates prevailing during the period. Assets and liabilities have been
translated at the rates of exchange on the balance sheet dates. The resulting translation gain and loss adjustments have been recorded directly as a separate
component of other comprehensive income in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income and stockholders’ equity. Transaction gains and losses that
arise from exchange rate fluctuations on transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional currency are included in our consolidated statements
of income as incurred.

Derivative Financial Instruments

We utilize a hedging program to reduce the risks associated with changes in the value of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of our subsidiaries. Under this program, we utilize foreign currency forward contracts to offset gains or losses recorded upon
remeasurement of assets and liabilities stated in the non-functional currencies of our subsidiaries. These forward contracts are not designated as hedges for
accounting purposes. As such, we record changes in fair value of the forward contracts in our consolidated statements of income along with the gain or loss
resulting from remeasurement of the U.S. dollar denominated financial assets and liabilities held by our foreign subsidiaries. The forward contracts are
typically only 30 days in duration and are settled and renewed each month. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the fair value of our forward contracts were
immaterial.

Stock-based Compensation

We measure the cost of equity‑based awards based on the grant date fair value and allocate the compensation expense over the requisite service period,
which is usually the vesting period. Beginning with our 2021 grants, the grant date fair value is determined by the closing price of our Class A common stock
on the grant date. Prior to 2021, the grant date fair value was determined by the average price of the trading high and trading low of our Class A common stock
on the grant date. 

Income Taxes

Deferred taxes are recorded using the asset and liability method, whereby tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the
financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax laws and rates expected to apply to taxable income in the year in which the
differences are expected to reverse. We regularly evaluate the valuation allowances established for deferred tax assets for which future realization is uncertain.
In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, we consider both positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax assets and
liabilities, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies and results of recent operations. If, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more
likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized, a valuation allowance is recorded.

Cactus Inc. is a corporation and is subject to U.S. federal as well as state income tax related to its ownership percentage in Cactus LLC. Cactus LLC is
a limited liability company treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and files a U.S. Return of Partnership Income, which includes both our
U.S. and foreign operations. Consequently, the
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members of Cactus LLC are taxed individually on their share of earnings for U.S. federal and state income tax purposes. However, Cactus LLC is subject to the
Texas Margins Tax. Additionally, our operations in China, Australia and Saudi Arabia are subject to local country income taxes. See Note 5 “Income Taxes” for
additional information regarding income taxes.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash in excess of current operating requirements is invested in short-term interest-bearing investments with maturities of three months or less at the
date of purchase and is stated at cost, which approximates fair value. Throughout the year we maintained cash balances that were not covered by federal deposit
insurance. We have not experienced any losses in such accounts.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Credit Losses

We extend credit to customers in the normal course of business. Our customers are predominantly oil and gas E&P companies in the United States.
Our receivables are short-term in nature and typically due in 30 to 45 days. We do not accrue interest on delinquent receivables. Accounts receivable includes
amounts billed and currently due from customers and unbilled amounts for products delivered and services performed for which billings have not yet been
submitted to the customers. Total unbilled revenue included in accounts receivable as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $34.9 million and $24.1 million,
respectively.

We maintain an allowance for credit losses to provide for the amount of billed receivables we believe to be at risk of loss. In our determination of the
allowance for credit losses, we pool receivables with similar risk characteristics based on customer size, credit ratings, payment history, bankruptcy status and
other factors known to us and apply an expected credit loss percentage. The expected credit loss percentage is determined using historical loss data adjusted for
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. Accounts deemed uncollectible are applied against the allowance for credit losses. The
following is a rollforward of our allowance for credit losses:

 

Balance at
Beginning of

Period Expense Write off
Translation

Adjustments
Balance at End of

Period

Year Ended December 31, 2022 $ 741  $ 406  $ (86) $ (1) $ 1,060 
Year Ended December 31, 2021 598  310  (167) —  741 
Year Ended December 31, 2020 837  342  (581) —  598 

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined using standard cost (which approximates average cost). Costs
include an application of related material, direct labor, duties, tariffs, freight and overhead costs. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal and transportation. Reserves are made for excess and obsolete items
based on a range of factors, including age, usage and technological or market changes that may impact demand for those products. The inventory obsolescence
reserve was $20.5 million and $18.0 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The following is a rollforward of our inventory obsolescence
reserve:

 

Balance at
Beginning of

Period Expense  Write off
Translation

Adjustments
Balance at End of

Period

Year Ended December 31, 2022 $ 18,012  $ 2,739  $ (202) $ (61) $ 20,488 
Year Ended December 31, 2021 14,637  3,490  (62) (53) 18,012 
Year Ended December 31, 2020 9,772  4,840  (53) 78  14,637 

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. We manufacture or construct most of our own rental assets and during the manufacture of these assets, they
are reflected as construction in progress until complete. We depreciate the cost of property and equipment using the straight‑line method over the estimated
useful lives and depreciate our rental assets to their salvage value. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the remaining lease term or
economic life of the related assets. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the
accounts and
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any resulting gain or loss are reflected in income for the period. The cost of maintenance and repairs is charged to income as incurred; significant renewals and
improvements are capitalized. Estimated useful lives are as follows:

Land N/A
Buildings and improvements 5 - 30 years
Machinery and equipment 2 - 12 years
Vehicles under finance lease 3 years
Rental equipment 2 - 11 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Computers and software 2 - 4 years

Property and equipment as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 consists of the following:

  December 31,
  2022 2021

Land $ 5,302  $ 3,203 
Buildings and improvements 25,480  22,532 
Machinery and equipment 57,883  56,937 
Vehicles under finance lease 29,045  23,450 
Rental equipment 194,088  180,704 
Furniture and fixtures 1,759  1,755 
Computers and software 3,068  3,495 

Gross property and equipment 316,625  292,076 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (200,573) (175,992)

Net property and equipment 116,052  116,084 
Construction in progress 13,946  13,033 
Total property and equipment, net $ 129,998  $ 129,117 

Depreciation and amortization was $34.1 million, $36.3 million and $40.5 million for 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Depreciation and
amortization expense is included in the consolidated statements of income as follows:

  Year Ended December 31,

  2022 2021 2020

Cost of product revenue $ 3,022  $ 3,176  $ 3,506 
Cost of rental revenue 23,663  25,812  28,063 
Cost of field service and other revenue 6,986  6,863  8,075 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 453  457  876 
Total depreciation and amortization $ 34,124  $ 36,308  $ 40,520 

Impairment of Long‑Lived Assets

We review the recoverability of long‑lived assets, such as property and equipment, when events or changes in circumstances occur that indicate the
carrying value of the asset or asset group may not be recoverable. The assessment of possible impairment is based on our ability to recover the carrying value
of the asset or asset group from the expected future pre‑tax cash flows (undiscounted) of the related operations. If these cash flows are less than the carrying
value of such asset, an impairment loss is recognized for the difference between estimated fair value and carrying value. We concluded there were no indicators
evident or other circumstances present that these assets were not recoverable and accordingly, no impairment charges of long‑lived assets were recognized for
2022 and 2021. Due to reduced sales and cash flows in 2020, we assessed the recoverability of our long-lived assets at each interim period of 2020 and as of
December 31, 2020. No impairments were recognized in 2020 as a result of these assessments.
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Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price paid over the fair value of the net assets of acquired businesses. Our goodwill resulted from the
acquisition of a manufacturing facility in Bossier City, Louisiana in 2011. The facility supports our full range of products, rentals and services. Goodwill is not
amortized, but we evaluate at least annually whether it is impaired. Goodwill is considered impaired if the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its
estimated fair value. We conduct our annual assessment of the recoverability of goodwill as of December 31 of each year. We first assess qualitative factors to
determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it is
necessary to perform the goodwill impairment test. If the qualitative assessment indicates that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit
is less than its carrying amount or we elect not to perform a qualitative assessment, the quantitative assessment of goodwill test is performed. The goodwill
impairment test is also performed whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If it is necessary to
perform the quantitative assessment to determine if our goodwill is impaired, we typically utilize a discounted cash flow analysis using management’s
projections that are subject to various risks and uncertainties of revenues, expenses and cash flows as well as assumptions regarding discount rates, terminal
value and control premiums. Estimates of future cash flows and fair value are highly subjective and inherently imprecise. These estimates can change
materially from period to period based on many factors. Accordingly, if conditions change in the future, we may record impairment losses, which could be
material to any particular reporting period.

Based on our annual impairment analysis using qualitative assessments, we concluded that there was no impairment of goodwill in 2022 and 2021.
Due to the depressed oil price environment, reduced sales and cash flow projections and a significant decline in our market capitalization as of March 31, 2020,
we assessed whether our goodwill may have been impaired as of March 31, 2020. Our quantitative impairment test using management’s current projections of
revenues, expenses and cash flows as of March 31, 2020 calculated significant cushion and no impairment was recognized as a result of this assessment. Actual
results during the remainder of the year were consistent with expectations and our forecasts had not materially changed; therefore, we concluded that our
goodwill was not impaired at each subsequent interim period of 2020 and as of December 31, 2020.

Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

  December 31,
  2022 2021

Payroll, incentive compensation, payroll taxes and benefits $ 9,484  $ 7,030 
Accrued professional fees and other 7,347  1,078 
Accrued international freight and tariffs 5,887  14,794 
Taxes other than income 2,728  1,641 
Income based tax payable 2,537  1,182 
Deferred revenue 1,450  1,764 
Accrued workers’ compensation insurance 576  269 
Accrued dividends 484  346 
Product warranties 126  136 
Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 30,619  $ 28,240 

Self-Insurance Accrued Expenses

We maintain a partially self-insured health benefit plan which provides medical and prescription drug benefits to certain of our employees electing
coverage under the plan. Our exposure is limited by individual and aggregate stop loss limits through third-party insurance carriers. Our self-insurance expense
is accrued based upon the aggregate of the expected liability for reported claims and the estimated liability for claims incurred but not reported, based on
historical claims experience provided by our third-party insurance advisors, adjusted as necessary based upon management’s reasoned judgment. Actual
employee medical claims expense may differ from estimated loss provisions based on historical experience. The liabilities for these claims are included as a
component of payroll, incentive compensation, payroll taxes and benefits in the table above and were $1.4 million and $1.1 million as of December 31, 2022
and 2021, respectively.
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Product Warranties

We generally warrant our manufactured products for 12 months from the date placed in service. The estimated liability for product warranties is based
on historical and current claims experience.

Fair Value Measurements

Authoritative guidance on fair value measurements provides a framework for measuring fair value and establishes a fair value hierarchy that
prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value, giving the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level
1 inputs) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 inputs). The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, accounts payable and
accrued expenses approximates fair value based on the short-term nature of these accounts. The fair value of our foreign currency forwards is determined using
market observable inputs including forward and spot prices (Level 2 inputs). We had no long-term debt outstanding as of December 31, 2022 or 2021.  

Employee Benefit Plans

Our employees within the United States are eligible to participate in a 401(k) plan sponsored by us. These employees are eligible to participate on the
first day of the month following 30 days of employment and if they are at least eighteen years of age. Eligible employees may contribute a percentage of their
compensation subject to a maximum imposed by the Internal Revenue Code. Similar benefit plans exist for employees of our foreign subsidiaries. We match
100% of the first 3% of gross pay contributed by each employee and 50% of the next 4% of gross pay contributed by each employee and we may also make
additional non‑elective employer contributions at our discretion under the plan. Due to the difficult economic environment at that time, the 401(k) match was
temporarily suspended in the U.S. in June 2020 and reinstated in August 2021. During 2022, 2021 and 2020, employer matching contributions totaled $4.2
million, $1.2 million and $1.6 million, respectively.

3. Inventories

Inventories consist of the following: 

  December 31,
  2022 2021

Raw materials $ 3,150  $ 1,870 
Work-in-progress 5,444  4,288 
Finished goods 152,689  113,659 
Total inventories $ 161,283  $ 119,817 

4. Debt

We had no debt outstanding as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. We had $0.1 million in letters of credit outstanding and were in compliance with all
covenants under the ABL Credit Facility (as defined below) as of December 31, 2022.

In August 2018, Cactus LLC entered into a five-year senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility with a syndicate of lenders and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent for such lenders and as an issuing bank and swingline lender (the “ABL Credit Facility”). The ABL Credit Facility
was first amended in September 2020 and provided for $75.0 million in revolving commitments.

On July 25, 2022, the ABL Credit Facility was amended again for up to $80.0 million in revolving commitments, up to $15.0 million of which is
available for the issuance of letters of credit. Subject to certain terms and conditions set forth in the ABL Credit Facility, Cactus LLC may request additional
revolving commitments in an amount not to exceed $50.0 million, for a total of up to $130.0 million in revolving commitments. The ABL Credit Facility
matures on July 25, 2027, or such earlier date that is 91 days prior to the maturity date of any indebtedness that has a principal balance exceeding $30.0 million.
The maximum amount that Cactus LLC may borrow under the ABL Credit Facility is subject to a borrowing base, which is based on a percentage of eligible
accounts receivable and eligible inventory, subject to reserves and other adjustments.

Borrowings under the ABL Credit Facility bear interest at Cactus LLC’s option at either (i) the Alternate Base Rate (as defined therein) (“ABR”), or
(ii) the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate (as defined therein) (“Term Benchmark”), plus, in each case, an applicable margin. Letters of credit issued under the ABL
Credit Facility accrue fees at a rate equal to the applicable margin
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for Term Benchmark borrowings. The applicable margin ranges from 0.0% to 0.5% per annum for ABR borrowings and 1.25% to 1.75% per annum for Term
Benchmark borrowings and, in each case, is based on the average quarterly availability under the ABL Credit Facility for the immediately preceding fiscal
quarter. The unused portion of the ABL Credit Facility is subject to a commitment fee of 0.25% per annum.

The ABL Credit Facility contains various covenants and restrictive provisions that limit Cactus LLC’s and each of its subsidiaries’ ability to, among
other things, incur additional indebtedness and create liens, make investments or loans, merge or consolidate with other companies, sell assets, make certain
restricted payments and distributions, and engage in transactions with affiliates. The obligations under the ABL Credit Facility are guaranteed by certain
subsidiaries of Cactus LLC and secured by a security interest in the accounts receivable, inventory and certain other personal property assets of Cactus LLC
and the guarantors. The ABL Credit Facility also requires Cactus LLC to maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.0 to 1.0 based on the ratio of EBITDA (as
defined therein) minus Unfinanced Capital Expenditures (as defined therein) to Fixed Charges (as defined therein) during certain periods, including when
availability under the ABL Credit Facility is under certain levels. If Cactus LLC fails to perform its obligations under the ABL Credit Facility, (i) the
commitments under the ABL Credit Facility could be terminated, (ii) any outstanding borrowings under the ABL Credit Facility may be declared immediately
due and payable and (iii) the lenders may commence foreclosure or other actions against the collateral.

At December 31, 2022, although there were no borrowings outstanding, the applicable margin on our Term Benchmark borrowings was 1.25%, plus
the base rate of one, three or six month SOFR plus 0.10%, subject to a floor rate. At December 31, 2021, the applicable margin was 1.50% plus an adjusted
base rate of one or three month LIBOR.

On February 28, 2023, in connection with the acquisition of FlexSteel, the ABL Credit Facility was amended and restated in its entirety (the
“Amended ABL Credit Facility”). The Amended ABL Credit Facility provides for a term loan of $125.0 million and up to $225.0 million in revolving
commitments. The term loan under the Amended ABL Credit Facility matures on February 27, 2026 and any revolving loans under the Amended ABL Credit
Facility mature on July 26, 2027. See further discussion of the Amended ABL Credit Facility in Note 15.

Interest (Income) Expense, net

Interest (income) expense, net, including deferred financing cost amortization, was comprised of the following:

  Year Ended December 31,
  2022 2021 2020

Interest under bank facilities $ 268  $ 313  $ 317 
Deferred financing cost amortization 165  168  168 
Finance lease interest 628  520  639 
Other 167  126  3 
Interest income (4,942) (353) (1,828)
Interest (income) expense, net $ (3,714) $ 774  $ (701)

5. Income Taxes

Domestic and foreign components of income before income taxes were as follows: 

  Year Ended December 31,
  2022 2021 2020

Domestic $ 155,380  $ 64,139  $ 61,028 
Foreign 21,172  11,006  9,157 
Income before income taxes $ 176,552  $ 75,145  $ 70,185 
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The provision for income taxes consisted of: 

  Year Ended December 31,
  2022 2021 2020

Current:         
Federal $ —  $ —  $ (786)
State 1,231  348  597 
Foreign 4,900  2,497  4,211 

Total current income taxes 6,131  2,845  4,022 
Deferred:

Federal 23,945  2,658  8,040 
State 514  1,516  (253)
Foreign 840  656  (839)

Total deferred income taxes 25,299  4,830  6,948 
Total provision for income taxes $ 31,430  $ 7,675  $ 10,970 

     The effective income tax rate was different from the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate due to the following: 

  Year Ended December 31,
  2022 2021 2020

Income taxes at 21% statutory tax rate $ 37,076  $ 15,780  $ 14,739 
Net difference resulting from:

Profit of non-controlling interest not subject to U.S. federal tax (7,339) (3,754) (5,508)
Foreign income taxes (net of foreign tax credit) 2,104  2,423  269 
State income taxes (excluding rate change) 2,910  1,348  883 
Impact of change in forecasted state income tax rate (1,739) 1,347  (1,216)
Foreign withholding taxes 1,225  730  462 
Change in valuation allowance (1,381) (8,977) 2,840 
Adjustments of prior year taxes (120) 79  (1,663)
Stock compensation (1,743) (1,096) (34)
Other 437  (205) 198 

Total provision for income taxes $ 31,430  $ 7,675  $ 10,970 

Our effective tax rate was 17.8%, 10.2% and 15.6% for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Our effective tax rate is
typically lower than the federal statutory rate of 21% due to the fact that Cactus Inc. is only subject to federal and state income tax on its share of income from
Cactus LLC. Income allocated to the non-controlling interest is not subject to U.S. federal or state tax.
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The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

  December 31,
  2022 2021

Investment in Cactus LLC $ 299,253  $ 292,956 
Imputed interest 12,982  12,297 
Tax credits 6,158  3,713 
Net operating loss carryforwards 855  11,198 
Other —  152 

Deferred tax assets 319,248  320,316 
Valuation allowance (17,604) (17,242)

Deferred tax asset, net 301,644  303,074 

Foreign withholding taxes 1,323  854 
Other 643  318 

Deferred tax liability, net $ 1,966  $ 1,172 

As of December 31, 2022, our liability related to the TRA was $292.6 million, representing 85% of the calculated net cash savings in the United States
federal, state and local and franchise tax that we anticipate realizing in future years from certain increases in tax basis and certain tax benefits attributed to
imputed interest as a result of our acquisition of CW Units. We have determined it is more-likely-than-not that we will be able to utilize all of our tax basis
subject to the TRA; therefore, we have recorded a liability related to the TRA for the tax savings we may realize from certain increases in tax basis and certain
tax benefits attributable to imputed interest as a result of our acquisition (or deemed acquisition for United States federal income tax purposes) of CW Units. If
we determine the utilization of this tax basis is not more-likely-than-not in the future, our estimate of amounts to be paid under the TRA would be reduced. In
this scenario, the reduction of the liability under the TRA would result in a benefit to our pre-tax consolidated results of operations in conjunction with an
increase to the valuation allowance and an offsetting adjustment to tax expense.

We record a deferred tax asset for the differences between our tax and book basis in the investment in Cactus LLC and imputed interest on the TRA.
Based upon our cumulative earnings history and forecasted future sources of taxable income, we believe that we will be able to realize the majority of our U.S.
deferred tax assets in the future. We do not expect to realize the portion of our deferred tax asset for our investment in Cactus LLC that may only be realizable
through the sale or liquidation of the investment and our ability to generate sufficient capital gains. For the year ended December 31, 2022, as a result of
redemptions of CW Units, we released $1.4 million of our valuation allowance and recorded a tax benefit of $1.4 million related to the realizable portion of the
deferred tax asset. As of December 31, 2022, we have a valuation allowance of $12.2 million against the $299.3 million deferred tax asset. During the year
ended December 31, 2021, as a result of redemptions of CW Units, we released $9.0 million of our valuation allowance and recorded a tax benefit of $9.0
million related to the realizable portion of the deferred tax asset. As of December 31, 2021, we had a valuation allowance of $13.5 million against the
$293.0 million deferred tax asset. We also record deferred tax assets for imputed interest, certain tax credits and net operating loss carryforwards. As of
December 31, 2022, we have a valuation allowance of $5.4 million against these deferred tax assets, primarily associated with our portion of Cactus LLC’s
accrued foreign taxes and state tax credits, due to uncertainty of realization.

As of December 31, 2022, we have deferred tax assets on U.S. federal and state net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards of approximately $0.8
million and $0.1 million, respectively, which can be used to offset U.S. federal and state taxes payable in future years. The U.S. federal NOL carryforwards
have no expiration date whereas the U.S. state NOL carryforwards generally will expire in periods beginning in 2040.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, we had no uncertain tax positions.  

None of our federal or state income tax returns are currently under examination by state taxing authorities.

6. Stock-Based Compensation

We have a long-term incentive plan (“LTIP”) that provides for the grant of various stock-based compensation awards at the discretion of our
compensation committee of our board of directors. Employees and non-employee directors are eligible
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to receive awards under the LTIP. Stock-based awards granted pursuant to the LTIP are expected to be settled in shares of our Class A common stock if they
vest. Our stock-based awards do not have voting rights prior to vesting. Dividends declared are accumulated and paid upon vesting. We account for forfeitures
when they occur and recognize the impact to stock-based compensation expense at that time. We recorded $10.6 million of stock-based compensation expense
during the year ended December 31, 2022 and $8.6 million during each of the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. Stock-based compensation expense is
primarily recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses. We recognized $1.7 million, $1.1 million and $34 thousand in tax benefits for tax
deductions from the vesting of stock-based awards benefits during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. As of December 31, 2022,
1.1 million stock awards were available for grant.

Restricted Stock Units

Restricted stock units (“RSUs”) granted to our key employees generally vest over a three-year period (vesting ratably in equal tranches over a three-
year period); however, RSUs granted to our non-employee directors generally vest on the first anniversary of the grant date. We recognize compensation
expense over the requisite service period using straight-line amortization.

The following table summarizes our RSU activity during the year ended December 31, 2022 (RSUs in thousands):

  No. of RSUs
Weighted Average Grant

Date Fair Value ($)

Nonvested as of December 31, 2021 476  $ 24.29 
Granted 151  55.06 
Vested (253) 25.37 
Forfeited (24) 31.75 

Nonvested as of December 31, 2022 350  $ 36.27 

There was approximately $7.9 million of unrecognized compensation expense relating to the unvested RSUs as of December 31, 2022. The
unrecognized compensation expense will be recognized over the weighted average remaining vesting period of 1.9 years.

Performance Stock Units

Performance stock units (“PSUs”) are granted to our executive officers. Under these awards, the number of shares vested and earned is currently
determined at the end of a three-year performance period based on our Return on Capital Employed (“ROCE”). The number of shares earned may range from
0% to 200% of the target units set forth in the applicable award agreement and is determined at the end of the performance period conditioned upon continued
service and on our achievement of certain predefined targets as defined in the underlying performance stock unit agreements. PSUs cliff vest upon conclusion
of the three-year performance period. As the ROCE target represents a performance condition, we recognize compensation expense for the performance share
units on a straight-line basis over three years based on the probable outcome of the ROCE performance.

In 2020, we granted PSU awards that contained a two-year and a three-year performance period. Our ROCE performance over the two-year period did
not meet the minimum requirements for vesting; therefore, the portions of the awards related to the two-year performance period were forfeited as of December
31, 2021. As of December 31, 2020, we had not recognized compensation expense related to any of the 2020 awards as it was not probable that the minimum
performance level would be achieved for each award as determined by the actual and forecasted ROCE performance over the applicable performance periods.
In 2021, we recorded a cumulative catch-up of compensation expense for the portions of the awards related to the three-year performance period as it was
probable that the minimum ROCE performance level would be achieved. Based on actual ROCE performance from 2020 through 2022, these PSUs vested at
80% of target; therefore, a portion of the awards related to the three-year performance period were forfeited as of December 31, 2022.
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The following table summarizes our PSU activity during the year ended December 31, 2022 (PSUs in thousands at their target number of shares which
assumes achievement of 100% of target):

No. of PSUs
Weighted Average Grant

Date Fair Value ($)

Nonvested as of December 31, 2021 198  $ 20.80 
Granted 68  55.02 
Vested (96) 13.66 
Forfeited (42) 23.26 

Nonvested as of December 31, 2022 128  $ 43.63 

As of December 31, 2022, there was approximately $3.0 million of unrecognized compensation expense relating to the unvested PSUs (based on the
grant date fair value of the awards at 100% of target) which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.8 years.

7. Revenue

We disaggregate revenue from contracts with customers into three revenue categories: (i) product revenues, (ii) rental revenues and (iii) field service
and other revenues. We have predominately domestic operations, with a small amount of sales in Australia, the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other
international markets. For the year ended December 31, 2022, we derived 66% of our total revenues from the sale of our products, 14% of our total revenues
from rental and 20% of our total revenues from field service and other. This compares to 64% of our total revenues from the sale of our products, 14% of our
total revenues from rental and 22% of our total revenues from field service and other for the year ended December 31, 2021.  In 2020, we derived 59% of our
total revenues from the sale of our products, 19% from rental and 22% from field service and other. The following table presents our revenues disaggregated by
category:

  Year Ended December 31,

  2022 2021 2020

Product revenue $ 452,615  $ 280,907  $ 206,801 
Rental revenue 100,453  61,629  66,169 
Field service and other revenue 135,301  96,053  75,596 

Total revenue $ 688,369  $ 438,589  $ 348,566 

At December 31, 2022, we had a deferred revenue balance of $1.5 million compared to the December 31, 2021 balance of $1.8 million included in
accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. Deferred revenue represents our obligation to transfer products or perform
services for a customer for which we have received cash or billed in advance. The revenue that has been deferred will be recognized upon product delivery or
as services are performed. As of December 31, 2022, we did not have any contracts with an original length of greater than a year from which revenue is
expected to be recognized in the future related to performance obligations that are unsatisfied.

8. Leases

We lease real estate, apartments, forklifts, vehicles and other equipment under non-cancellable agreements. Certain of our leases include one or more
options to renew, with renewal terms that can extend the lease term from one to 10 years or greater. The exercise of lease renewal options is typically at our
discretion. The measurement of the lease term includes options to extend or renew the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise those options.
Lease assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date based on the present value of minimum lease payments over the lease term. To determine
the present value of future minimum lease payments, we use the implicit rate when readily determinable; however, many of our leases do not provide an
implicit rate. Therefore, to determine the present value of minimum lease payments, we use our incremental borrowing rate based on the information available
at the commencement date of the lease. Our finance lease agreements typically include an interest rate that is used to determine the present value of future lease
payments. Short-term operating leases with an initial term of twelve months or less are not recorded on our balance sheet. Minimum lease payments are
expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term, including reasonably certain renewal options.
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The following are the components of operating and finance lease costs:
Year Ended December 31,

  2022 2021

Finance lease cost:  
Amortization of right-of-use assets $ 5,516  $ 4,906 
Interest expense 628  520 

Operating lease cost 6,564  6,638 
Short-term lease cost 1,515  1,894 
Sublease income (353) (265)
Total lease cost $ 13,870  $ 13,693 

The following is supplemental cash flow information for our operating and finance leases:

Year Ended December 31,

  2022 2021

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:  
Operating cash flows from finance leases $ 628  $ 520 
Operating cash flows from operating leases 6,524  5,398 
Financing cash flows from finance leases 6,055  5,205 

Total $ 13,207  $ 11,123 
   

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new lease obligations:  
Operating leases $ 6,565  $ 5,342 
Finance leases 7,941  9,941 

Total $ 14,506  $ 15,283 

The following is the aggregate future lease payments for operating and finance leases as of December 31, 2022:

  Operating Finance

2023 $ 5,431  $ 6,442 
2024 4,420  4,963 
2025 3,458  2,117 
2026 2,711  111 
2027 2,640  — 
Thereafter 7,410  — 
Total undiscounted lease payments 26,070  13,633 

Less: effects of discounting (2,918) (1,264)
Present value of lease payments $ 23,152  $ 12,369 

The following represents the average lease terms and discount rates for our operating and finance leases:
Year Ended December 31,

  2022 2021

Weighted average remaining lease term:    
Finance leases 2.0 years 2.1 years
Operating leases 6.5 years 5.8 years

Weighted average discount rate    
Finance leases 11.97  % 8.58  %
Operating leases 2.96  % 3.01  %
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As a lessor, we rent a fleet of frac valves and ancillary equipment for short-term rental periods, typically one to two months. Our lessor portfolio
consists mainly of operating leases for equipment utilized during the drilling, completion and production phases of our customers’ wells. At this time, most
lessor agreements contain less than three-month terms with no renewal options that are reasonably certain to exercise, or early termination options based on
established terms specific to the individual agreement. See Note 7 for disaggregation of revenue.

9. Tax Receivable Agreement

In connection with our IPO, we entered into the TRA with certain direct and indirect owners of Cactus LLC (the “TRA Holders”). The TRA generally
provides for payment by Cactus Inc. to the TRA Holders of 85% of the net cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state and local income tax and franchise tax that
Cactus Inc. actually realizes or is deemed to realize in certain circumstances as a result of (i) certain increases in tax basis that occur as a result of Cactus Inc.’s
acquisition (or deemed acquisition for U.S. federal income tax purposes) of all or a portion of such TRA Holder’s CW Units in connection with our IPO or any
subsequent offering, or pursuant to any other exercise of the Redemption Right or the Call Right (each as defined below), (ii) certain increases in tax basis
resulting from the repayment of borrowings outstanding under Cactus LLC’s term loan facility in connection with our IPO and (iii) imputed interest deemed to
be paid by Cactus Inc. as a result of, and additional tax basis arising from, any payments Cactus Inc. makes under the TRA. We retain the remaining 15% of the
cash savings.

The TRA liability is calculated by determining the tax basis subject to TRA (“tax basis”) and applying a blended tax rate to the basis differences and
calculating the resulting iterative impact. The blended tax rate consists of the U.S. federal income tax rate and an assumed combined state and local income tax
rate driven by the apportionment factors applicable to each state. As of December 31, 2022, the total liability from the TRA was $292.6 million with $27.5
million reflected in current liabilities based on the expected timing of our next payment. The payments under the TRA will not be conditional on a holder of
rights under the TRA having a continued ownership interest in either Cactus LLC or Cactus Inc.

The term of the TRA commenced upon completion of our IPO and will continue until all tax benefits that are subject to the TRA have been utilized or
expired, unless we exercise our right to terminate the TRA. If we elect to terminate the TRA early (or it is terminated early due to certain mergers, asset sales,
other forms of business combinations or other changes of control relating to Cactus LLC, our obligations under the TRA would accelerate and we would be
required to make an immediate payment equal to the present value of the anticipated future payments to be made by us under the TRA and such payment is
expected to be substantial. The calculation of anticipated future payments will be based upon certain assumptions and deemed events set forth in the TRA,
including the assumptions that (i) we have sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the tax benefits covered by the TRA and (ii) any CW Units (other than those
held by Cactus Inc.) outstanding on the termination date are deemed to be redeemed on the termination date. Any early termination payment may be made
significantly in advance of the actual realization, if any, of the future tax benefits to which the termination payment relates.

We may elect to defer payments due under the TRA if we do not have available cash to satisfy our payment obligations under the TRA. Any such
deferred payments under the TRA generally will accrue interest from the due date for such payment until the payment date.

10. Equity

As of December 31, 2022, Cactus Inc. owned 80.3% of Cactus LLC, as compared to 78.0% as of December 31, 2021. As of December 31, 2022,
Cactus Inc. had outstanding 60.9 million shares of Class A common stock (representing 80.3% of the total voting power) and 15.0 million shares of Class B
common stock (representing 19.7% of the total voting power).

Redemptions of CW Units

Pursuant to the Cactus Wellhead LLC Agreement, each holder of CW Units had, subject to certain limitations, the right (the “Redemption Right”) to
cause Cactus LLC to acquire all or at least a minimum portion of its CW Units for, at Cactus LLC’s election, (x) shares of our Class A common stock at a
redemption ratio of one share of Class A common stock for each CW Unit redeemed, subject to conversion rate adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends
and reclassification and other similar transactions, or (y) an equivalent amount of cash. Alternatively, upon the exercise of the Redemption Right, Cactus Inc.
(instead of Cactus LLC) will have the right (the “Call Right”) to acquire each tendered CW Unit directly from the exchanging CW Unit Holder for, at its
election, (x) one share of Class A common stock, subject to conversion rate adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends and reclassifications and other similar
transactions, or (y) an equivalent amount of cash. In connection with any redemption of CW Units pursuant to the Redemption Right or our Call Right, the
corresponding number of shares of Class B common stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Class B common stock”), will be canceled.
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Any exercise by Cactus LLC or Cactus Inc. of the right to acquire redeemed CW Units for cash must be approved by the board of directors of Cactus
Inc. To date, neither Cactus Inc. nor Cactus LLC have elected to acquire CW Units for cash in connection with exchanges by CW Unit Holders. It is the policy
of Cactus Inc. that any exercise by Cactus Inc. or Cactus LLC of the right to acquire redeemed CW Units for cash must be approved by a majority of those
members of the board of directors of Cactus Inc. who have no interest in such transaction.

Since our IPO in February 2018, 45.6 million CW Units and a corresponding number of shares of Class B common stock have been redeemed in
exchange for shares of Class A common stock. For more information regarding our IPO, see our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2018.

The following is a rollforward of ownership of legacy CW Units by CW Unit Holders for the three years ended December 31, 2022:

  CW Units
  (in thousands)

CW Units held by legacy CW Unit Holders as of December 31, 2019 27,958 
CW Unit redemptions (303)

CW Units held by legacy CW Unit Holders as of December 31, 2020 27,655 
March 2021 Secondary Offering (6,273)
Cadent redemption in June 2021 (3,292)
Cadent redemption in September 2021 (715)
Other CW Unit redemptions (701)

CW Units held by legacy CW Unit Holders as of December 31, 2021 16,674 
CW Unit redemptions (1,696)

CW Units held by legacy CW Unit Holders as of December 31, 2022 14,978 

Outside of the redemptions associated with the 2021 Secondary Offering (as defined below) and the 2021 redemptions by Cadent (as defined below)
and its affiliates, certain legacy CW Unit Holders redeemed 1.7 million, 0.7 million and 0.3 million CW Units (together with a corresponding number of shares
of Class B common stock) pursuant to the Redemption Right for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Cactus Inc. acquired the
redeemed CW Units and a corresponding number of shares of Class B common stock (which shares of Class B common stock were then canceled) and issued
1.7 million, 0.7 million and 0.3 million shares of Class A common stock to the redeeming CW Unit Holders during the same respective time periods. Pursuant
to the TRA, as described in Note 9, CW Unit redemptions create additional TRA liability. As a result of all of the CW Unit redemptions during the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, Cactus Inc. increased its ownership in Cactus LLC and accordingly, increased its equity by approximately $13.7 million,
$79.4 million and $2.2 million, respectively, resulting from a reduction in the non-controlling interest.

On March 9, 2021, Cactus Inc. entered into an underwriting agreement with Cactus LLC, certain selling stockholders of Cactus (the “Selling
Stockholders”) and the underwriters named therein, providing for the offer and sale by the Selling Stockholders (the “2021 Secondary Offering”) of up to
6,325,000 shares of Class A common stock at a price to the underwriters of $30.555 per share. On March 12, 2021, in connection with the 2021 Secondary
Offering, certain of the Selling Stockholders exercised their right to redeem 6,272,500 CW Units, together with a corresponding number of shares of Class B
common stock, as provided in the Cactus Wellhead LLC Agreement. Upon the closing of the 2021 Secondary Offering, Cactus Inc. acquired the redeemed CW
Units and a corresponding number of shares of Class B common stock (which shares of Class B common stock were then canceled) and issued 6,272,500 new
shares of Class A common stock to the underwriters at the direction of the redeeming Selling Stockholders, as provided in the Cactus Wellhead LLC
Agreement. In addition, certain other Selling Stockholders sold 52,500 shares of Class A common stock in the 2021 Secondary Offering, which shares were
owned by them directly as of the time of the 2021 Secondary Offering. Cactus did not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of common stock in the 2021
Secondary Offering and incurred $0.4 million in expenses which were recorded in other expense, net, in the consolidated statements of income. There was no
change in the combined number of Cactus Inc. voting shares outstanding as a result of the 2021 Secondary Offering.

On June 17, 2021, Cadent Energy Partners II, L.P. (“Cadent”) transferred ownership of 944,093 CW Units, together with a corresponding number of
shares of Class B common stock, to its general partner, Cadent Energy Partners II - GP, L.P., (“Cadent GP”), and its manager, Cadent Management Services,
LLC (“Cadent Management”). Cadent then redeemed its remaining 3.3 million CW Units, together with a corresponding number of shares of Class B common
stock, as provided in the Cactus Wellhead LLC Agreement. The redeemed CW Units (and the corresponding shares of Class B common stock) were
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canceled and Cactus Inc. issued 3.3 million new shares of Class A common stock to Cadent, which then distributed such shares to its limited partners. Cactus
received no proceeds from these events, and there was no change in the combined number of Cactus Inc. voting shares outstanding.

On September 13, 2021, Cadent GP and Cadent Management transferred their aggregate ownership of 228,878 CW Units, together with a
corresponding number of shares of Class B common stock, to their respective owners, which included certain Cactus Inc. board members and executive
management. The transfers were made at the discretion of Cadent GP and Cadent Management without the consent of the transferees. Additionally, Cadent GP
and Cadent Management redeemed their remaining 715,215 CW Units held, together with a corresponding number of shares of Class B common stock, thus
liquidating its ownership in Cactus Wellhead, LLC. These transactions were in accordance with the Cactus Wellhead LLC Agreement. The redeemed CW Units
(and the corresponding shares of Class B common stock) were canceled and Cactus Inc. issued 715,215 new shares of Class A common stock. Cactus received
no proceeds from these events, and there was no change in the combined number of Cactus Inc. voting shares outstanding.

Dividends 

Aggregate cash dividends of $0.44, $0.38 and $0.36 per share of Class A common stock declared during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021
and 2020 totaled $26.9 million, $21.2 million and $17.4 million, respectively. Cash dividends paid during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020
totaled $26.7 million, $21.2 million and $17.1 million, respectively. Dividends accrue on unvested stock-based awards on the date of record and are paid upon
vesting. Dividends are not paid to our Class B common stock holders; however, a corresponding distribution up to the same amount per share as our Class A
common stockholders is paid to our CW Unit Holders for any dividends declared on our Class A common stock. See Note 11 “Related Party Transactions” for
further discussion of distributions made by Cactus LLC.

Limitation of Members’ Liability

Under the terms of the Cactus Wellhead LLC Agreement, the members of Cactus LLC are not obligated for debt, liabilities, contracts or other
obligations of Cactus LLC. Profits and losses are allocated to members as defined in the Cactus Wellhead LLC Agreement.

11. Related Party Transactions

When needed, we rent a plane under dry-lease from a company owned by a member of Cactus LLC. These transactions are under short-term rental
arrangements and the agreement governing these transactions does not qualify as a lease. Effective January 1, 2022, we pay a base hourly rent of $2,500 per
flight hour of use (increased from $1,750 per flight hour) of the aircraft, payable monthly, for the hours of aircraft operation. During each of the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021, expense recognized in connection with these rentals totaled $0.2 million as compared to $0.1 million during the year ended
December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, we owed less than $0.1 million to the related party which are included in accounts payable in the
consolidated balance sheets. We are also responsible for employing pilots and fuel expenses. Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer
reimburse the Company up to $2,350 per day for their personal use of the pilots employed by the Company, depending on how many company pilots are
utilized for the day.

The TRA agreement is with certain direct and indirect holders of CW Units, including certain of our officers, directors and employees. These TRA
Holders have the right in the future to receive 85% of the net cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state and local income tax and franchise tax that Cactus Inc.
actually realizes or is deemed to realize in certain circumstances. The total liability from the TRA as of December 31, 2022 was $292.6 million. We pay
professional fees to assist with maintenance of the TRA and composite tax payments in advance of the state tax return filings which are reimbursable from the
TRA Holders. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, amounts due from the TRA Holders for fees and estimated state tax payments made on their behalf totaled
$0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively. The balances are included in accounts receivable, net in the consolidated balance sheets.

Distributions made by Cactus LLC are generally required to be made pro rata among all its members. During the years ended December 31, 2022,
2021 and 2020, Cactus LLC distributed $38.6 million, $30.6 million and $27.8 million, respectively, to Cactus Inc. to fund its dividend, TRA liability and
estimated tax payments. During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, Cactus LLC made pro rata distributions to the other members totaling $9.7
million, respectively as compared to $16.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2020.
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12. Commitments and Contingencies

We are involved in various disputes arising in the ordinary course of business. Management does not believe the outcome of these disputes will have a
material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or consolidated results of operations.

13. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share of Class A common stock is calculated by dividing the net income attributable to Cactus Inc. during the period by the
weighted average number of shares of Class A common stock outstanding during the same period. Diluted earnings per share of Class A common stock is
calculated by dividing the net income attributable to Cactus Inc. during that period by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding assuming
all potentially dilutive shares were issued.

We use the if-converted method to determine the potential dilutive effect of outstanding CW Units (and corresponding shares of outstanding Class B
common stock), the treasury stock method to determine the potential dilutive effect of unvested restricted stock units assuming that the proceeds will be used to
purchase shares of Class A common stock and the contingently issuable share method to determine the potential dilutive effect of unvested performance stock
units.

The following table summarizes the basic and diluted earnings per share calculations:
  Year Ended December 31,
  2022 2021 2020

Numerator:      
Net income attributable to Cactus Inc.—basic $ 110,174  $ 49,593  $ 34,446 
Net income attributable to non-controlling interest 27,235  13,744  19,934 
Net income attributable to Cactus Inc.—diluted $ 137,409  $ 63,337  $ 54,380 

Denominator:
Weighted average Class A shares outstanding—basic 60,323  55,398  47,457 
Effect of dilutive shares 16,014  20,709  28,038 
Weighted average Class A shares outstanding—diluted 76,337  76,107  75,495 

Earnings per Class A share—basic $ 1.83  $ 0.90  $ 0.73 

Earnings per Class A share—diluted $ 1.80  $ 0.83  $ 0.72 

The numerator is adjusted in the calculation of diluted earnings per share under the if-converted method to include net income attributable to the non-
controlling interest calculated as its pre-tax income adjusted for a corporate effective tax rate of 25.0%, 27.0% and 24.0% for the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

14. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Non-cash investing and financing activities were as follows:

  Year Ended December 31,
  2022 2021 2020

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new lease obligations $ 14,506  $ 15,283  $ 4,302 
Property and equipment in accounts payable 1,369  405  197 

Cash paid for interest and income taxes was as follows:

  Year Ended December 31,
  2022 2021 2020

Cash paid for interest $ 1,063  $ 959  $ 959 
Cash paid for income taxes, net 5,502  4,542  1,600 

During the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, we issued 1.7 million, 11.0 million and 0.3 million shares of Class A common stock,
respectively, pursuant to redemptions of CW Units by holders thereof.

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)
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15. Subsequent Events

On December 30, 2022, Cactus Inc. and its newly-formed subsidiary, Atlas Merger Sub, LLC, entered into a definitive agreement (the “Merger
Agreement”) to acquire HighRidge Resources, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“HighRidge”) on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger
Agreement (the “Merger”). The Merger Agreement provided Cactus with the opportunity to acquire FlexSteel, a wholly-owned subsidiary of HighRidge and a
leading manufacturer and provider of differentiated onshore spoolable pipe technologies and associated installation services.

On January 13, 2023, Cactus Inc. completed an underwritten offering of 3,224,300 shares of Class A common stock at a price to the underwriters of
$51.36 per share for net proceeds of $165.6 million (net of $6.9 million of underwriting discounts and commissions). Following the offering, Cactus Inc.
owned 81.1% and CW Unit Holders owned 18.9% of Cactus LLC, which was based on 64.1 million shares of Class A common stock issued and outstanding
and 15.0 million shares of Class B common stock issued and outstanding.

The Merger closed on February 28, 2023 whereby Atlas Merger Sub, LLC merged into HighRidge, with HighRidge being the surviving entity.
HighRidge’s primary purpose was to own 100% of the equity in FlexSteel Holdings, Inc. Subsequent to the Merger, FlexSteel Holdings, Inc. was converted
into a limited liability company, now named FlexSteel Holdings, LLC (previously defined as “FlexSteel”). Also subsequent to the Merger, Cactus Inc.
contributed HighRidge to Cactus Acquisitions LLC, a newly created entity, whereby HighRidge was converted into a limited liability company. Finally, Cactus
Acquisitions LLC contributed FlexSteel to Cactus Companies, LLC who acquired all of the outstanding units of Cactus LLC in exchange for an equal number
CC Units (as defined below) prior to the Merger closing. We acquired FlexSteel on a cash-free, debt-free basis, for a purchase price of approximately
$621.2 million, subject to certain working capital, debt and other customary adjustments set forth in the Merger Agreement. In addition to the upfront
consideration, there is a potential future earn-out payment of up to $75 million to be paid no later than the third quarter of 2024, if certain revenue growth
targets are met by FlexSteel. We funded the upfront purchase price using a combination of $165.6 million of net proceeds received from the public offering of
shares of our Class A common stock completed on January 13, 2023, borrowings under the Amended ABL Credit Facility and available cash on hand at the
time of closing.

We believe this acquisition enhances Cactus’ position as a premier manufacturer and provider of highly engineered equipment to the E&P industry and
expands our reach further downstream. We also believe FlexSteel’s products are highly complementary to Cactus’ equipment at the wellsite and provides
meaningful growth potential for Cactus. The acquisition is being accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting, with Cactus being treated as the
accounting acquirer. Under the acquisition method of accounting, the assets and liabilities will be recorded at their respective fair values as of the date of the
completion of the Merger. The preliminary purchase price allocation is not complete as of the date of this report and will be an ongoing process for up to one
year subsequent to the closing date of the transaction. Determining the fair value of the assets and liabilities of FlexSteel requires judgment and certain
assumptions to be made. The Merger was structured as a tax-free reorganization for United States federal income tax purposes. In connection with the Merger,
Cactus recognized approximately $8.4 million of transaction costs for the year ended December 31, 2022. These fees primarily related to legal, accounting and
consulting fees and are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the statements of income.

As part of an internal reorganization (the “CC Reorganization”) in connection with the Merger, Cactus Companies, LLC (“Cactus Companies”) was
formed and on February 27, 2023, Cactus Companies acquired all of the outstanding units of Cactus LLC in exchange for an equal number of units
representing limited liability company interests in Cactus Companies (“CC Units”) issued to each of the previous owners of CW Units. Upon the completion of
the CC Reorganization, CW Unit Holders ceased to be holders of CW Units and, instead, became holders of a number of CC Units equal to the number of CW
Units such CW Unit Holders held immediately prior to the completion of the CC Reorganization. Following the completion of the CC Reorganization, CC Unit
Holders own one share of our Class B Common Stock for each CC Unit such CC Unit Holder owns. Cactus Inc. is a holding company whose only material
asset is an equity interest consisting of CC Units, following the completion of the CC Reorganization, and was CW Units from the IPO until the CC
Reorganization. Cactus Inc. was the sole managing member of Cactus LLC upon completion of our IPO until the CC Reorganization and became the sole
managing member of Cactus Companies upon completion of the CC Reorganization.

In connection with the CC Reorganization, Cactus Inc. and the owners of CC Units entered into the Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement
of Cactus Companies (the “Cactus Companies LLC Agreement”), which contains substantially the same terms and conditions as the Second Amended and
Restated Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement of Cactus LLC (the “Cactus Wellhead LLC Agreement”), which was the limited liability company
operating agreement of Cactus LLC prior to the CC Reorganization. Cactus Inc. was responsible for all operational, management and administrative decisions
relating to Cactus LLC’s business for the period from completion of our IPO until the CC Reorganization and relating to Cactus Companies’ business for
periods after the CC Reorganization. Pursuant to the Cactus Companies LLC Agreement, each holder
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of CC Units has, subject to certain limitations, the right to cause Cactus Companies to acquire all or at least a minimum portion of its CC Units for, at Cactus
Companies’ election, (x) shares of our Class A common stock at a redemption ratio of one share of Class A common stock for each CC Unit redeemed, subject
to conversion rate adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends and reclassification and other similar transactions, or (y) an equivalent amount of cash.
Alternatively, upon the exercise of such redemption right, Cactus Inc. (instead of Cactus Companies) has the right to acquire each tendered CC Unit directly
from the exchanging CC Unit Holder for, at its election, (x) one share of Class A common stock, subject to conversion rate adjustments for stock splits, stock
dividends and reclassifications and other similar transactions, or (y) an equivalent amount of cash. In connection with any redemption of CC Units pursuant to
such redemption right or our alternative right to acquire each tendered CC Unit, the corresponding number of shares of Class B common stock would be
canceled.

On February 28, 2023, in connection with the Merger, Cactus Companies assumed the rights and obligations of Cactus LLC as Borrower under the
ABL Credit Facility and the ABL Credit Facility was amended and restated in its entirety (the “Amended ABL Credit Facility”). The Amended ABL Credit
Facility provides for a term loan of $125.0 million, the full amount of which was borrowed at closing of the Amended ABL Credit Facility to fund a portion of
the Merger, and up to $225.0 million in revolving commitments, up to $20.0 million of which is available for the issuance of letters of credit. Subject to certain
terms and conditions set forth in the Amended ABL Credit Facility, Cactus Companies LLC may request additional revolving commitments in an amount not to
exceed $50.0 million, for a total of up to $275.0 million in revolving commitments. The term loan under the Amended ABL Credit Facility matures on
February 27, 2026 and any revolving loans under the Amended ABL Credit Facility mature on July 26, 2027. The maximum amount that Cactus Companies
may borrow under the Amended ABL Credit Facility is subject to a borrowing base, which is based on a percentage of eligible accounts receivable and eligible
inventory, subject to reserves and other adjustments.

Borrowings under the Amended ABL Credit Facility bear interest at Cactus Companies’ option at either the ABR rate or the Term Benchmark rate,
plus, in each case, an applicable margin. Letters of credit issued under the Amended ABL Credit Facility accrue fees at a rate equal to the applicable margin for
Term Benchmark borrowings. The applicable margin for term loan borrowings is 2.50% per annum for term loan ABR borrowings and 3.50% per annum for
term loan Term Benchmark borrowings. The applicable margin for revolving loan borrowings ranges from 0.0% to 0.5% per annum for revolving loan ABR
borrowings and 1.25% to 1.75% per annum for revolving loan Term Benchmark borrowings and, in each case, is based on the average quarterly availability of
the revolving loan commitment under the Amended ABL Credit Facility for the immediately preceding fiscal quarter. The unused portion of revolving
commitment under the Amended ABL Credit Facility is subject to a commitment fee of 0.25% per annum. The term loan is required to be repaid in regular set
amounts starting March 31, 2023 as set forth in the amortization schedule in the Amended ABL Credit Facility. The term loan can be prepaid without the
payment of any prepayment premium (other than customary breakage costs for Term Benchmark borrowings).

The Amended ABL Credit Facility contains various covenants and restrictive provisions that limit Cactus Companies’ and each of its subsidiaries’
ability to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness and create liens, make investments or loans, merge or consolidate with other companies, sell
assets, make certain restricted payments and distributions, and engage in transactions with affiliates. The obligations under the Amended ABL Credit Facility
are guaranteed by certain subsidiaries of Cactus Companies and secured by a security interest in accounts receivable, inventory, equipment and certain other
real and personal property assets of Cactus Companies and the guarantors. Until the term loan is paid in full, the Amended ABL Credit Facility requires Cactus
Companies to maintain a leverage ratio no greater than 2.50 to 1.00 based on the ratio of Total Indebtedness (as defined therein) to EBITDA (as defined
therein). The Amended ABL Credit Facility also requires Cactus Companies to maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.00 to 1.00 based on the
ratio of EBITDA (as defined therein) minus Unfinanced Capital Expenditures (as defined therein) to Fixed Charges (as defined therein) during certain periods,
including when availability under the Amended ABL Credit Facility is under certain levels. If Cactus Companies fails to perform its obligations under the
Amended ABL Credit Facility, (i) the revolving commitments under the Amended ABL Credit Facility could be terminated, (ii) any outstanding borrowings
under the Amended ABL Credit Facility may be declared immediately due and payable and (iii) the lenders may commence foreclosure or other actions against
the collateral.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A.    Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have evaluated, under the supervision and with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, the effectiveness
of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
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Rules 13a‑15(e) and 15d‑15(e) under the Exchange Act as amended) as of December 31, 2022. Based upon that evaluation, our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of such date. Our disclosure
controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under
the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate
to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure and is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and
forms of the SEC.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2022 that have materially affected,
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B.    Other Information

Not applicable.

Item 9C.    Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.

PART III

Item 10.    Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item (and only such information) is incorporated by reference to our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2023 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of December 31, 2022 (“Proxy Statement”).

Item 11.    Executive Compensation 

The information required by this item (and only such information) is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.

Item 12.    Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item (and only such information) is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.

Item 13.    Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item (and only such information) is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.

Item 14.    Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item (and only such information) is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.

PART IV

Item 15.    Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(1) Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements of Cactus, Inc. and Subsidiaries and the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm are included
in Part II, Item 8. of this Annual Report. Reference is made to the accompanying Index to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is presented in the financial
statements or the notes thereto.
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(3) Index to Exhibits

The exhibits required to be filed or furnished pursuant to Item 601 of Regulation S-K are set forth below.

Exhibit No.      Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger among Cactus, Inc., Atlas Merger Sub, LLC, HighRidge Resources, Inc. and FlexSteel LTIP LP, dated as of
December 30, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the Commission on January 3, 2023)

3.1   Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Cactus, Inc., effective February 12, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
the Registrant’s Form 8‑K filed with the Commission on February 12, 2018)

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Cactus, Inc., effective as of February 7, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s
Form 8-K filed with the Commission on February 8, 2023)

4.1   Description of the Registrant’s Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K filed with the Commission on February 28, 2020)

10.1   Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement of Cactus Companies, LLC, dated February 27, 2023
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Form 8‑K filed with the Commission on March 1, 2023)

10.2†   Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Scott Bender, dated as of February 12, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
to the Registrant’s Form 8‑K filed with the Commission on February 12, 2018)

10.3†   First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated February 21, 2019, by and between Scott Bender and Cactus
Wellhead, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the Commission on February 22, 2019)

10.4† Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Scott Bender, dated as of April 25, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the Commission on April 28, 2021)

10.5†   Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Joel Bender, dated as of February 12, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4
to the Registrant’s Form 8‑K filed with the Commission on February 12, 2018)

10.6† First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated February 21, 2019, by and between Joel Bender and Cactus
Wellhead, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the Commission on February 22, 2019)

10.7† Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Joel Bender, dated as of April 25, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the Commission on April 28, 2021)

10.8† Amended and Restated Noncompetition Agreement with Scott Bender, dated as of February 12, 2018 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant’s Form 8‑K filed with the Commission on February 12, 2018)

10.9† Amended and Restated Noncompetition Agreement with Joel Bender, dated as of February 12, 2018 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant’s Form 8‑K filed with the Commission on February 12, 2018)

10.10† Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on January 12, 2018)

10.11†* Schedule of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreements Identical in All Material Respects to the Form of Director and Officer
Indemnification Agreement Filed as Exhibit 10.10 to this Annual Report pursuant to Instruction 2 to Item 6-01 of Regulation S-K

10.12 Tax Receivable Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8‑K filed with the Commission on
February 12, 2018)

10.13 Registration Rights Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8‑K filed with the Commission on
February 12, 2018)

10.14† Cactus, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Registrant’s Form 8‑K filed with the Commission
on February 12, 2018)

10.15† Amendment No. 1 to Cactus, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan, dated November 25, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the Commission on November 26, 2019)

10.16† Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the Cactus Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the
Registrant’s Form S‑1 Registration Statement (File No. 333‑222540) filed with the Commission on January 12, 2018)

10.17† Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Cactus Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the
Registrant’s Form S‑1 Registration Statement (File No. 333‑222540) filed with the Commission on January 12, 2018)
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Exhibit No.      Description

10.18 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of February 28, 2023, among Cactus Companies, LLC, as borrower, certain subsidiaries
of Cactus Companies, LLC, as guarantors, the lenders party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, an issuing
bank and swingline lender (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8‑K filed with the Commission on March 1,
2023)

10.19† Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Directors, one-year vesting) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the Registrants Form S-
8 Registration Statement (File No. 333-225269) filed with the Commission on May 29, 2018)

10.20† Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Directors, three-year vesting) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to the Registrants Form
S-8 Registration Statement (File No. 333-225269) filed with the Commission on May 29, 2018)

10.21† Form of Performance Stock Unit Agreement (three-year vesting) under the Cactus, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 17, 2020)

10.22† Form of Performance Stock Unit Agreement (two and three-year vesting) under the Cactus, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 17, 2020)

10.23† Form of Performance Stock Unit Agreement under the Cactus, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to
the Registrant’s Form 10-K filed with the Commission on February 28, 2022)

10.24† Offer Letter to Stephen Tadlock dated May 30, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Item 10.17 of the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018, filed with the Commission on March 15, 2019)

10.25† Offer letter to David Isaac dated September 17, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K filed with
the Commission on February 28, 2020)

10.26† Severance Agreement by and between Cactus Wellhead, LLC and David Isaac, dated as of September 24, 2018 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.23 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K filed with the Commission on February 28, 2020)

10.27†* Offer Letter to William Marsh dated April 25, 2022
21.1* List of Subsidiaries of Cactus, Inc.
23.1* Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1** Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2** Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS* XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because XBRL tags are embedded within the

Inline XBRL document
101.SCH* XBRL Inline Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL* XBRL Inline Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document
101.LAB* XBRL Inline Taxonomy Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE* XBRL Inline Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document
101.DEF* XBRL Inline Taxonomy Definition Document
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

*     Filed herewith.
**   Furnished herewith.
†     Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

Item 16.    Form 10‑K Summary

None.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

  Cactus, Inc.
   
Date: March 1, 2023 By: /s/ Scott Bender
    Scott Bender
    President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature      Title Date

         

/s/ Scott Bender
  President, Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal Executive

Officer)
  March 1, 2023

Scott Bender        
         

/s/ Stephen Tadlock
  Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer (Principal Financial

Officer)
  March 1, 2023

Stephen Tadlock        
         

/s/ Donna Anderson   Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)   March 1, 2023
Donna Anderson        

         
/s/ Bruce Rothstein   Chairman of the Board and Director   March 1, 2023

Bruce Rothstein        
         

/s/ Joel Bender   Senior Vice President, Chief Operating Officer and Director   March 1, 2023
Joel Bender        

         
/s/ Melissa Law   Director   March 1, 2023

Melissa Law        
       

/s/ Michael McGovern   Director   March 1, 2023
Michael McGovern        

         
/s/ John (Andy) O’Donnell   Director   March 1, 2023

John (Andy) O’Donnell        
         

/s/ Gary Rosenthal   Director   March 1, 2023
Gary Rosenthal        

         
/s/ Alan Semple   Director   March 1, 2023

Alan Semple        

/s/ Tym Tombar Director March 1, 2023
Tym Tombar
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Exhibit 10.11

SCHEDULE OF DIRECTOR AND OFFICER INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENTS SUBSTANTIALLY IDENTICAL TO FORM OF DIRECTOR AND
OFFICER INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT FILED AS EXHIBIT TO ANNUAL REPORT

In accordance with Instruction 2 to Item 601 of Regulation S-K, the Registrant has omitted filing the following Director and Officer Indemnification
Agreements by and between Cactus, Inc. and the parties named below because they are substantially identical in all material respects to the form of Director and Officer
Indemnification Agreement filed as Exhibit 10.11 to Cactus, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022:

1. Indemnification Agreement with Scott Bender, dated as of February 12, 2018
2. Indemnification Agreement with Joel Bender, dated as of February 12, 2018
3. Indemnification Agreement with Bruce Rothstein, dated as of February 12, 2018
4. Indemnification Agreement with Steven Bender dated as of February 12, 2018
5. Indemnification Agreement with Stephen Tadlock, dated as of February 12, 2018
6. Indemnification Agreement with John (Andy) O’Donnell, dated as of February 12, 2018
7. Indemnification Agreement with Michael McGovern, dated as of February 12, 2018
8. Indemnification Agreement with Alan Semple, dated as of February 12, 2018
9. Indemnification Agreement with Gary Rosenthal, dated as of February 12, 2018
10. Indemnification Agreement with Donna Anderson, dated as of December 9, 2019
11. Indemnification Agreement with Melissa Law, dated as of January 30, 2020
12. Indemnification Agreement with Tym Tombar, dated as of July 1, 2021
13. Indemnification Agreement with William Marsh, dated as of May 17, 2022



Exhibit 10.27

4/25/2022

Dear William Marsh,

We are pleased to extend you an offer of employment with Cactus Wellhead, LLC.    We believe the company can provide an
outstanding opportunity for your ongoing professional development, and we are confident in your ability to make a significant
contribution to the team.

Your position will be Vice President of Administration and General Counsel, located in Houston, reporting to Scott Bender. Your
tentative start date will be Monday, 5/16/22 . You will be paid an annual base salary of $400,000.00 USD. As this position is
considered “exempt” for federal wage-hour purposes, you will not be eligible for overtime pay for hours worked in excess of 40
in a given workweek.

As a full-time employee with Cactus Wellhead, you are eligible for the following:

• Comprehensive benefits package including medical, dental, vision effective the 1st of the month, following 30 days of
employment. Disability, voluntary ancillary benefits, and 401(k) retirement programs are also offered.

• Participation in our Management Incentive Plan (MIP). This plan provides an annual bonus payment based on achieving the
financial and operational goals of the Company and weighs your personal contributions to the Company as well. Payment
of this plan is based on the objectives set by the Company and approval from the Board. Your initial target participation
level in the Incentive Program would be at 75%, with inclusion in the Tier 1 participant pool, which currently incorporates
the
highest stretch bonus component in the plan.

• With Board approval, you will participate in our annual long-term incentive program, which will include one times your base
pay in RSU’s and one times your base pay in PSU’s. The RSU’s vest ratably over three years (1/3 each year).     The PSU’s
vest subject to return on capital employed metrics measured over a three-year timeframe.    Subject to board approval, it is
anticipated your initial PSU grant will have a measurement period from 1/1/2022 to 12/31/2024.    Copies of the 2022 forms
of agreement for both the RSU’s and PSU’s will be provided to you.

• A one-time restricted stock unit award of $400,000 with three-year vesting terms that will be granted at the closing stock
price 30 days after your start date (vesting equally in one-third installments per year).

• Cell phone allowance, per company policy.
• 20 Paid Time Off (PTO) days per calendar year, which includes vacation and sick time, pro-rated based on date of hire.

Your employment with the company is contingent upon the successful completion of a background investigation and a drug and
alcohol screen. Depending on position, you may also be subject to Motor Vehicle Report screening, and physical work or
mobility testing. Additionally, this offer is contingent upon satisfactory review of any covenants related to non-compete
agreements that may be currently in force with your current or previous employers. Once satisfactory results are received, we
will contact you to confirm your start date.

Employment with Cactus Wellhead, LLC is considered “at will”, meaning that either you or the company may terminate the
relationship at any time for any reason, with or without cause or notice. Nothing in this



letter is intended or should be construed as a contract, express or implied. This letter supersedes any prior representation or
agreement, whether written or oral. This employment letter may not be modified or amended except by a written agreement.

We hope you will find working with Cactus Wellhead, LLC to be a rewarding experience.

Sincerely,

Scott Bender

Cactus Wellhead, LLC

Please accept this offer by    5/2/2022.    This offer is void if your response is not received within seven (7) days. Should you have
any questions, please do not hesitate to contact Shelley Cook    at shelley.cook@cactuswellhead.com.

Electronically Signed By:

William Marsh

Signed on 04/25/2022



Exhibit 21.1

Cactus, Inc.
Significant Subsidiaries

 

    State or Country
Subsidiary of Incorporation

Cactus Acquisitions LLC Delaware
Cactus Companies, LLC Delaware

Cactus Wellhead, LLC   Delaware
Cactus Wellhead (Suzhou) Pressure Control Co., Ltd.   China
Cactus Wellhead Australia Pty, Ltd   Australia

FlexSteel Holdings, LLC Delaware
FlexSteel Pipeline Technologies, LLC Delaware
FlexSteel USA, LLC Nevada
Rubiales Consulting, LLC Delaware
Talon Bridge Holdings, LLC Delaware
Trinity Bay Equipment Holdings, LLC Delaware
FlexSteel Pipeline Technologies, Ltd. Canada



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-263106) and S-8 (No. 333-225269) of Cactus, Inc. of
our report dated March 1, 2023 relating to the financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form
10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Houston, Texas
March 1, 2023



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)

I, Scott Bender, certify that:

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cactus, Inc. (the “registrant”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 1, 2023 /s/ Scott Bender
Scott Bender

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)

I, Stephen Tadlock, certify that:

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cactus, Inc. (the “registrant”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 1, 2023 /s/ Stephen Tadlock
Stephen Tadlock

Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cactus, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2022 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Scott Bender, President, Chief Executive Officer and Director of the Company, certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 1, 2023 /s/ Scott Bender
Scott Bender

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cactus, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2022 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Stephen Tadlock, Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 1, 2023 /s/ Stephen Tadlock
Stephen Tadlock

Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)


